
 

 

MIDWEST CITY 
 

MEETING AGENDAS FOR 

September 11, 2018 
 

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF BRIEFING 

City Hall - Midwest City Council Conference Room, second floor 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

 

September 11, 2018 – 6:00 PM 

 

To make a special assistance request for any meeting, call 739-1215 or email 

pmenefee@midwestcityok.org no less than 24 hours prior to the start of a meeting. 

If special assistance is needed during a meeting, call 739-1388. 

 

 

DISCUSSION. 

 

Clarification of agenda items, handouts, and presentation of new or additional information for 

items on the agendas for the City Council, Memorial Hospital Authority, and Special Economic 

Development Authority meetings for September 11, 2018. 
  

mailto:pmenefee@midwestcityok.org


 

CITY OF MIDWEST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

City Hall - Midwest City Council Chambers, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

 

September 11, 2018 – 7:00 PM 

 

A.      CALL TO ORDER. 

B.  OPENING BUSINESS. 

 Invocation by Public Works Director Vaughn Sullivan 

 Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Byrne 

 Community-related announcements and comments 

 Mayoral Proclamations for retirees 

 

C.  CONSENT AGENDA.  These items are placed on the Consent Agenda so the Council, by 

 unanimous consent, can approve routine agenda items by one motion. If any item 

 proposed does not meet with the approval of all Council, or members of the audience wish 

 to discuss an item, it will be removed and heard in a regular order. 

1. Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the staff briefing, and regular 

meetings of August 28, 2018, as submitted. (City Clerk - S. Hancock)   

2. Discussion and consideration of supplemental budget adjustments to the following 

funds for FY 2018-2019, increase: Police Fund, revenue/Miscellaneous (00) $4,483; 

expenses/Police (62) $4,483. Sooner Rose TIF Fund, expenses/Hospital Authority (90) 

$87,164. CDBG Fund, Grants Management (39) $274,254. Grants Fund, revenue/ 

Intergovernmental (62) $50,000; revenue/Transfers In (62) $3,825; expenses/Police 

(62) $53,825. Police Impound Fees Fund, expenses/Transfers Out (62) $3,825. Grants 

Fund, revenue/Intergovernmental (62) $8,942; expenses/Police (62) $8,942. (Finance - 

C. Barron) 

 
3. Discussion and consideration of adopting the Midwest City Emergency Operations 

Plan for 2018-19 (Emergency Management - M. Bower) 

4. Discussion and consideration of entering into a Bond Counsel Contract with Hilborne 

and Weidman for legal services associated with the $53,650,000 General Obligation 

Bond issue. (City Manager - G. Henson)  

 
5. Discussion and consideration of entering into a Municipal Advisor Contract with the 

Baker Group for expert financial advice associated with the $53,650,000 General 

Obligation Bond issue. (City Manager - G. Henson)  

 
6. Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement with 

McAfee & Taft, PC and Fulmer Sill, PLLC for representation and a fee agreement to 

represent the City of Midwest City for a cause of action against certain Opioid  

Manufacturing, Distributors and potentially other third parties for damages and 

equitable relief arising out of the conduct of the Defendants in connection with the 

manufacturing, marketing and distribution of opioids. (City Manager - T. Lyon)
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Consent Agenda continued. 

 

7. Discussion and consideration of approving a resolution to provide for retention of 

attorneys to address the opioid epidemic. (City Manager - T. Lyon) 

8. Discussion and consideration of awarding the bid to and entering into a contract with 

Cimarron Construction Company in the amount of $416,886.00 for the Sooner Road I-

40 water line relocation project. (Community Development - P. Menefee) 

 
9. Discussion and consideration of the acceptance of and making a matter of record 

Permit No. SL000055180611 from the State Department of Environmental Quality for 

The Estates at Midwest City Sewer Line Extension, Midwest City, 

Oklahoma.  (Community Development - P. Menefee) 

 
10. Discussion and consideration of the acceptance of and making a matter of record 

Permit No. WL000055180389 from the State Department of Environmental Quality for 

the Turtlewood Addition Section 6 Water Line Extension, Midwest City, Oklahoma. 

(Community Development - P. Menefee) 

 
11. Discussion and consideration of ratifying, approving and entering into the FY 2019 

Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) contract between the Association of 

Central Oklahoma Governments and the City of Midwest City.  (Community 

Development - P. Menefee) 

 
  12. Discussion and consideration of reappointing Taiseka Adams to the Midwest City Park  

   and Recreation Board for a three-year term ending on September 12, 2021. (Public  

   Works - V. Sullivan) 

 

  13. Discussion and consideration of 1) declaring as surplus a printer; 3 office chairs; plan  

   holder; 2 bound atlases; 2 coffee table map books; Cellugraf 5/16” signals – 1 box;  2  

   MX-20 holders; Post It note tray; index card box; assorted jewel cases; note tray; Sharp 

   calculator; Universal twin spool ribbon for Canon, Sharp, Royal; Ruwe markers – 1  

   box; Bates old style phone number keeper; express moistener; wire remote holder;  

   metal file fasteners – partial box; 3 typewriter ribbons Monroe Marc 2 EPC; Tru-Point  

   abrasive cups – 2 boxes; machine eraser strips – 2 boxes; index card box separators  

   6X4 – partial pack; and 2) authorizing their disposal by public auction or sealed bid.  

   (Community Development – B. Harless)                                              

14. Discussion and consideration of declaring as surplus property Optec Message Board 

Serial #011457-01-00151, Equipment # 3428-R-24X64, Stihl weedeater serial # 

510649437 equipment # 09-07-105, Stihl weedeater Serial # 388963746, equipment # 

09-07-69, Stihl weedeater serial # 502781672, equipment # 09-07-128, quantity two 

(2) 5 to 12 year old children climbing sets, quantity one (1) each: 4 swings swing set, 

16’ monkey bars, 5 to 12 year old children enclosed slides, Harley Davidson golf cart, 

Low Boy semi-trailer serial # 1A1835205D1535921, equipment # 09-10-11, Low Boy 

semi-trailer serial # 11679TR1, equipment # 09-10-01 and International semi-truck 

serial # 1HSGGG3RXMH325895 equipment # 09-03-18.  (Public Works - V. Sullivan)
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D.     DISCUSSION ITEMS. 

1. (PC-1961) Discussion and consideration of approving and passing an ordinance 

amending Appendix A, Zoning Regulations, of the Midwest City Code; by amending 

Section 5, Supplemental Regulations, Section 5.12 Exterior Construction and Design 

Requirements, Section 5.12.1 Exterior Construction Requirements and Standards and 

providing for repealer and severability. (Community Development - B. Harless) 

2. (PC – 1960)  Discussion and consideration of approval of the proposed preliminary plat 

of Windsor Meadows, described as a part of the NE/4 of Section 1, T11N, R2W, 

located on the west side of Saint Paul Ave. This item was tabled at the July 24, 2018 

City Council meeting. (Community Development - B. Harless) 

 
3. Discussion and consideration of approving an ordinance amending the Midwest City 

Municipal Code, Chapter 2, Administration, by amending Article VIII, Purchasing, 

Section 2-116, Generally; and providing for repealer and severability. (City Clerk - S. 

Hancock) 

4. Discussion and consideration of accepting the resignation of two previous members, 

Rella Johnson and Valencia Howell, and appointing three new members to the Original 

Mile Reinvestment Committee. (Community Development - B. Harless)   

E.  NEW BUSINESS/PUBLIC DISCUSSION. The purpose of the "Public Discussion Section" of the 

 Agenda is for members of the public to speak to the City Council on any Subject not scheduled on the 

 Regular Agenda. The Council shall make no decision or take any action, except to direct the City Manager to 

 take action, or to schedule the matter for discussion at a later date. Pursuant to the Oklahoma Open Meeting 

 Act, the Council will not engage in any discussion on the matter until that matter has been placed on an 

 agenda for discussion. THOSE ADDRESSING THE COUNCIL ARE REQUESTED TO STATE THEIR 

 NAME AND ADDRESS PRIOR TO SPEAKING TO THE COUNCIL. 

F.  ADJOURNMENT. 

  



 

 

      

 CONSENT AGENDA 



A notice for staff briefings for the Midwest City Council was filed for the calendar year with the City Clerk of 

Midwest City. Public notice of this agenda was accessible at least 24 hours before this meeting at City Hall and on 

the Midwest City website (www.midwestcityok.org). 

 
 

Midwest City Council Staff Briefing Minutes 

 

August 28, 2018 – 6:00 PM 

 

This staff briefing was held in the Midwest City Council Conference Room on the second floor of City 

Hall, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard, Midwest City, County of Oklahoma, State of Oklahoma. 

 

Mayor Matthew Dukes** called the meeting to order at 6:01 PM with the following members present: 

Councilmembers Susan Eads, Pat Byrne, Españiola Bowen, *Sean Reed, Christine Allen, and Jeff 

Moore; and City Clerk Sara Hancock. Absent: none. 

 

DISCUSSION.   
 

Clarification of agenda items, handouts, and presentation of new or additional information for 

items on the City Council for August 28, 2018. Council and Staff made community-related 

announcements and discussed individual agenda items. 

 

* Councilmember Reed left the meeting at 6:49 PM and returned at 6:51 PM.  

**Mayor Dukes left the meeting at 6:52 PM and returned at 6:52 PM. 

 

Mayor Dukes adjourned the meeting at 7:03 PM. 

 

 

                 ____________________________  

ATTEST:      MATTHEW D. DUKES II, Mayor 

 

 

 

 

_________________________ 

SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 



A notice for the regular meetings of the Midwest City Council were filed for the calendar year with the 

City Clerk of Midwest City. Public notice of this agenda was accessible at least 24 hours before this 

meeting at City Hall and on the Midwest City website (www.midwestcityok.org). 

 

Midwest City Council Minutes 
 

August 28, 2018 – 7:00 PM 
 

This meeting was held in the Midwest City Council Chambers at City Hall, 100 N. Midwest 

Boulevard, Midwest City, County of Oklahoma, State of Oklahoma. Mayor Matt Dukes called the 

meeting to order at 7:11 PM with the following members present: Councilmembers Susan Eads, Pat 

Byrne, Españiola Bowen, Sean Reed, *Christine Allen, and Jeff Moore; and City Clerk Sara 

Hancock. Absent: none.  

 

Opening Business. Assistant City Manager Tim Lyon opened with the invocation, followed by the 

Pledge of Allegiance led by Councilmember Eads. Council and staff made community-related 

announcements. The Mayor presented Retiree, Kathy Trainer, with a proclamation.   

 

Consent Agenda.  

 

Eads made a motion to approve the consent agenda, as submitted, except for item 7, seconded by 

Reed. Voting aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. 

Absent: none. Motion carried. 

 

1. Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the staff briefing, and regular 

meetings of August 14, 2018, as submitted. 

 

2. Discussion and consideration of supplemental budget adjustments to the following funds for 

FY 2018-2019, increase: Reimbursed Projects Fund, revenue/Inter-governmental (14) $10,000; 

expenses/General Gov’t (14) $10,000; revenue/Inter-governmental (39) $16,000; expenses/ 

Grants Management (39) $16,000. Dedicated Tax 2012 Fund, revenue /Transfers In (00) 

$17,878. Grants Fund, revenue/Inter-governmental (64) $310,091; expenses/Fire (64) 

$310,091. Capital Improvements Fund, expenses/Capital Improvements (57) $3,800. 

 

3. Discussion and consideration of accepting the City Manager's Report for the month of July, 

2018. 

 

4. Discussion and consideration of accepting the monthly report on the City of Midwest City 

Employees’ Health Benefits Plan by the City Manager and action as deemed necessary by the 

Council to maintain the plan. 

 

5. Discussion and consideration of revising the current Administrative Services Agreement with 

Health Care Services Corporation to provide administrative services for the Employee Health 

Benefits Plan for the fiscal year 2018/2019 and amending the Administrative Services 

Agreement with Health Care Services Corporation which provides administrative services for 

the Employee Health Benefits Plan changing Active Employee eligibility from the first of the 

month following sixty (60) days of employment to the first of the month following one month 

of employment. This change will not add any additional fees to the existing agreement. 

 

6. Discussion and consideration of approving a General Mutual Cooperation Agreement between 

the City of Midwest City and the Board of County Commissioners of Oklahoma County. 
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7. Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into a Cooperative Agreement with 

the Midwest City Chamber of Commerce that governs the terms and conditions under which 

that organization will receive up to $5,000 from the City for the 2018 Youth Excel program.  

Bonnie Cheatwood, Executive Director of the Chamber of Commerce, spoke with the Council. After 

discussion, Reed made a motion to approve the contract, as submitted, seconded by Byrne. Voting 

aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion 

carried. 

 

8. Discussion and consideration of accepting the Midwest City YMCA baseball 2017-2018 financial 

statement. 

 

9. Discussion and consideration of the acceptance of and making a matter of record Permit No. 

SL000055180439 from the State Department of Environmental Quality for the Johnson Homestead 

Addition Sewer Line Extension, Midwest City, Oklahoma. 

 

10. Discussion and consideration of renewing the agreement with the City of Harrah for animal care 

services for the remaining portion of fiscal year 2018-19. 

 

11. Discussion and consideration of the monthly Neighborhood Services report for July 2018. 

 

12. Discussion and consideration of confirming the mayor’s reappointment of Carolyn Leslie to continue 

to serve as the Midwest City representative on the Metropolitan Library Commission for an 

additional three-year term. 

 

13. Discussion and consideration of declaring miscellaneous office equipment and supplies, as surplus 

and authorizing their disposal by public auction, sealed bid or destruction, if necessary.   

 

Discussion Items. 

 

1. (PC – 1953) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of approval an ordinance to 

redistrict from R-MH-2, Manufactured Home Park District to Planned Unit Development 

(PUD) governed by the R-MD, Medium Density Residential District and a resolution to amend 

the Comprehensive Plan from MH, Manufactured Home, to MDR, Medium Density 

Residential, for the property described as a tract of land lying in the NW/4 of Section 25, T-12-

N, R-2-W, located at 2222 N. Douglas Blvd. This item was continued at the June 26, 2018 

Council meeting. At the July 25, 2018 Council meeting, the Council allowed this revised PUD 

to be re-heard by the Planning Commission on August 7, 2018. Staff, Chris Gray and Scott 

Storgham with Crafton Tull, and Tom Jones with City Rescue Mission all addressed the Council. 

After discussion, Reed made a motion to approve Ordinance 3344 and Resolution 2018-18 with the 

variance of 138 parking spaces, seconded by Eads. Voting aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, 

Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion carried. 

2. (PC – 1962) Discussion and consideration of approval of the proposed preliminary plat of 

Nider Addition, described as a part of the SE/4 of Section 31, T12N, R1W, addressed as 10712 

NE 4th Street. After discussion with staff, Byrne made a motion to approve the plat, as submitted, 

seconded by Bowen. Voting aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: 

none. Absent: none. Motion carried
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3. (PC-1963) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of an ordinance to redistrict from 

R-6, Single Family Residential to SPUD, Simplified Planned Unit Development governed by 

the C-3, Community Commercial district for the property described as a part of the SE/4 of 

Section 32, T-12-N, R-1-W, located at 11901 E. Reno Ave. After discussion with David Box, 522 

Colcord Dr. OKC, and Justin Dill and Dan Pryor, Dollar General Representatives, Moore made a 

motion to approve Ordinance 3345, as submitted, seconded by Bowen. Voting aye: Bowen, Allen, 

Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: Eads, Byrne, and Reed. Absent: none. Motion carried. 

* Councilmember Allen left the meeting at 8:04 PM and returned at 8:05 PM.  

4. (PC-1964) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of an ordinance to redistrict from 

R-6, Single Family Detached Residential to SPUD, Simplified Planned Unit Development, 

governed by the R-6, Single Family Residential District, for the property described as Lot 15, 

Block 21 of the Speckman Heights Addition, located at 101 E. Kittyhawk Dr.  Eads made a 

motion to approve Ordinance 3346, seconded by Allen. Voting aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, 

Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion carried.  

5. (PC-1965) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of an ordinance to redistrict from 

R-6, Single Family Detached Residential to SPUD, Simplified Planned Unit Development, 

governed by the R-6, Single Family Residential District, for the property described as Lot 5, 

Block 6 of the Pine Addition, located at 220 E. Kittyhawk Dr. Bowen made a motion to approve 

Ordinance 3347, seconded by Eads. Voting aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and 

Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion carried. 

6. Discussion and consideration of appointing two qualified electors residing in Oklahoma 

County, to represent the City of Midwest City on the Board of Directors of the Central 

Oklahoma Master Conservancy District (COMCD) for a four-year term and submitting those 

names to the Cleveland County district judge, who will appoint them to membership on the 

Board of Directors of the COMCD. Byrne made a motion to reappoint Mr. Kevin Anders and Mr. 

Bill Janacek for another four-year-term to end on September 13, 2022, seconded by Eads. Voting 

aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion 

carried. 

7. Discussion and consideration of accepting the Oklahoma Spartans Youth Football 

Organization 2017-2018 financial statement. After Council discussion, Allen made a motion to 

accept the report and requested an update at the end of the year 2018, seconded by Moore. Voting 

aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion 

carried. 

New Business/Public Discussion. There was no new business or public discussion. 

  

*  At 8:16 PM, Eads made a motion to recess, seconded by Byrne. Voting aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, 

 Reed, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion carried. 

 

*  At 8:38 PM, the Council returned to the meeting.  
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Executive Sessions. 

 

1. Discussion and consideration of (1) entering into executive session, as allowed under 25 O.S., § 

307(B)(4), to discuss to joining pending litigation against Opioid manufacturers, distributors, 

and other potential defendants that are responsible for the opioid epidemic, and (2) in open 

session, authorizing the city manager to take action as appropriate based on the discussion in 

executive session.   

 

At 8:38 PM, Eads made a motion to enter into executive session, seconded by Allen. Voting aye: 

Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion 

carried.  

 

At 9:06 PM, Eads made a motion to return to open session, seconded by Allen. Voting aye: Eads, 

Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion carried.  

 

Reed made a motion to authorize the City Manager to proceed as discussed in executive session, 

seconded by Allen. Voting aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: 

none. Absent: none. Motion carried. 

 

Adjournment. There being no further business, Mayor Dukes adjourned the meeting at 9:06 PM. 

 

 

ATTEST:         

 

_____________________________ 

         MATTHEW D. DUKES II, Mayor 

 

_______________________________ 

SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk  



 

 The City of 

MIDWEST CITY 
 

___________________________________________________________ 

100 N. MIDWEST BLVD * MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 73110  
(405) 739-1245 * FAX (405) 739-1247 * TDD (405) 739-1359 

             
Memorandum 

 

TO:   Honorable Mayor and Council 

 

FROM: Christy Barron, Finance Director 

 

DATE:  September 11, 2018 

 

Subject:    Discussion and consideration of supplemental budget adjustments to the 

following funds for FY 2018-2019, increase:  Police Fund, revenue/Miscellaneous 

(00) $4,483; expenses/Police (62) $4,483.  Sooner Rose TIF Fund, 

expenses/Hospital Authority (90) $87,164.  CDBG Fund, Grants Management 

(39) $274,254.  Grants Fund, revenue/Intergovernmental (62) $50,000; 

revenue/Transfers In (62) $3,825; expenses/Police (62) $53,825.  Police Impound 

Fees Fund, expenses/Transfers Out (62) $3,825.  Grants Fund, 

revenue/Intergovernmental (62) $8,942; expenses/Police (62) $8,942.   

 

 

The first supplement is needed to budget insurance proceeds to be used to pay for repairs on 

damaged police vehicles.  The second supplement is needed to budget public improvements 

related to Sooner Rose Phase 2.  The third supplement is needed to roll forward budget in CDBG 

Fund from fiscal year 2017-2018 to current fiscal year.  The fourth and fifth supplements are 

needed to budget 2018 Safe Oklahoma Grant from Oklahoma Office of Attorney General and 

transfer from Police Impound Fees Fund to Grants Fund to pay for social security expenses 

related to grant.  The sixth supplement is needed to budget fiscal year 2018 Byrne Justice 

Assistance Grant from U.S. Department of Justice to be used to purchase law enforcement 

equipment. 
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SUPPLEMENTS

September 11, 2018

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

POLICE (020) Fiscal Year 2018-2019

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

00 Miscellaneous 4,483

62 Police 4,483

4,483 0 4,483 0

Explanation:

To budget insurance proceeds to be used to pay for repairs on damaged police vehicles.

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

SOONER ROSE TIF (352) Fiscal Year 2018-2019

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

90 Hospital Authority 87,164

0 0 87,164 0

Explanation:

To budget public improvements related to Sooner Rose Phase 2.  Funding to come from fund balance.

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

CDBG (141) Fiscal Year 2018-2019

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

39 Grants Management 274,254

0 0 274,254 0

Explanation:

To roll forward budget in CDBG Fund from fiscal year 2017-2018 to current fiscal year.  Funding to come from fund balance.

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

GRANTS (143) Fiscal Year 2018-2019

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

62 Intergovernmental 50,000

62 Transfers In 3,825

62 Police 53,825

53,825 0 53,825 0

Explanation:

To budget 2018 Safe Oklahoma Grant from Oklahoma Office of Attorney General and transfer in from Police Impound Fees Fund

to pay for social security expenses related to grant.



SUPPLEMENTS

September 11, 2018

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

POLICE IMPOUND FEES (037) Fiscal Year 2018-2019

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

62 Transfers Out 3,825

0 0 3,825 0

Explanation:

To budget transfer out to Grants Fund to pay for social security expenses related to 2018 Safe Oklahoma Grant.  Funding to come

from fund balance.

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

GRANTS (143) Fiscal Year 2018-2019

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

62 Intergovernmental 8,942

62 Police 8,942

8,942 0 8,942 0

Explanation:

To budget FY18 Byrne Justice Assistance Grant from U.S. Department of Justice to be used to purchase law enforcement equipment.



 

 
 
 

 
To:                  Honorable Mayor and Council 

 
From:              Mike Bower, Midwest City Emergency Manager 

 
Date:               September 11, 2018 

 
Subject:          Discussion and consideration of adopting the Midwest City Emergency 

Operations Plan for 2018-2019. 
 

 
 

The Midwest City Emergency Operations plan is updated and exercised each year. The EOP 

provides a frame-work in which the departments of the city can plan and perform their 

respective emergency functions during a disaster or national emergency. This plan recognizes 

the need for ongoing emergency management planning by all departments within the city. 

 
The plan incorporates the four phases of emergency management, which are Mitigation, 

Preparedness, Response, and Recovery. In accordance with Homeland Security Presidential 

Directive 5, all agencies, departments and organizations having responsibilities delineated in 

the EOP will use the National Incident Management System (NIMS). This system will allow 

for proper coordination between local, state and federal organizations. The Incident Command 

(ICS) System will be used to insure a common organizational structure. 

 
Staff recommends approval. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Mike Bower 

Emergency Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



































































































































































































































































































































































































































































City Manager 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

Midwest City, OK  73110 

ghenson@midwestcityok.org 

Office: 405.739.1204/Fax: 405.739.1208 

www.midwestcityok.org 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 

 

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council 

 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, City Manager 

 
DATE: September 11, 2018 

 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of entering into a Bond Counsel Contract with 

Hilborne and Weidman for legal services associated with the $53,650,000 General 

Obligation Bond issue. 
 
 
 
 
Please see the attached contract. This firm was heavily involved in preparing all the necessary 
documents required to present the four propositions presented and approved by the electorate of 
Midwest City in the August 28, 2018 election. This firm recently provided bond counsel services 
on the refinancing of the Town Center Project. Staff was very satisfied with the work performed 
in that project.  
 
Staff recommends approval of the proposed contract.  
 
 
 
 

 
J. Guy Henson, AICP 

City Manager 







City Manager 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

Midwest City, OK  73110 

ghenson@midwestcityok.org 

Office: 405.739.1204/Fax: 405.739.1208 

www.midwestcityok.org 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 

 

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council 

 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, City Manager 

 
DATE: September 11, 2018 

 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of entering into a Municipal Advisor Contract with 

the Baker Group for expert financial advice associated with the 53,650,000 

General Obligation Bond issue. 
 
 
 
 
Please see the attached contract. The Baker Group has been heavily involved in developing the 
parameters associated with the size of the bond issue and its impact on the local millage rate. The 
Baker Group has a long history of providing solid financial advice to the City and its public trusts.  
 
Staff recommends approval of the proposed contract.  
 
 

 
J. Guy Henson, AICP 

City Manager 







 
 

 

Assistant City Manager 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

Midwest City, OK  73110 

office 405.739.1201 

 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 

To: Honorable Mayor and Council 

 

From: Tim Lyon, Assistant City Manager 

 

Date: September 11, 2018 

 

Subject: Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement with   

 McAfee & Taft, PC and Fulmer Sill, PLLC for representation and a fee agreement to 

 represent the City of Midwest City for a cause of action against certain Opioid 

 Manufacturing, Distributors and potentially other third parties for damages and equitable 

 relief arising out of the conduct of the Defendants in connection with the manufacturing, 

 marketing and distribution of opioids. 

 

 

 

 

Attached is a representation and fee agreement with McAfee & Taft, PC and Fulmer Sill, PLLC for 

representation and a fee agreement to represent the City of Midwest City for a cause of action against 

certain Opioid Manufacturing,  Distributors and potentially other third parties for damages and 

equitable relief arising out of the conduct of the Defendants in connection with the manufacturing, 

marketing and distribution of opioids.  

 

This agreement establishes a contingency fee arrangement that addresses all litigation costs.  

 

Staff recommends approval. 

 

If you have any questions, please give me a call at 739-1201. 

 

Tim L. Lyon 
________________________________________ 

Tim Lyon, Assistant City Manager  

 

Attachment 
www.midwestcityok.org 

 



1 

REPRESENTATION AND FEE AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made the ____ day of September 2018, between the City of 

Midwest City, Oklahoma (the “City”) and McAfee & Taft, a Professional Corporation, and 

Fulmer Sill, PLLC (collectively, the “Attorneys”). 

WHEREAS, the City believes that it has a cause of action against certain Opioid 

Manufacturing, Distributors and potentially other third parties (collectively, the “Defendants”) 

for damages and equitable relief arising out of the conduct of the Defendants in connection with 

the manufacturing, marketing and distribution of opioids (the “Claim”).   

WHEREAS, the City represents that they are the owner of the Claim and have not 

assigned, modified, settled or received payment for the Claim, or entered into any prior fee 

agreement with any other attorney(s) with respect to the Claim. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED between the City and the Attorneys as follows: 

1. Contingent Fee.  In consideration of the services to be rendered by the Attorneys 

in connection with the Claim against Defendants, if the City obtains a recovery on their Claim, 

the City agrees to pay Attorneys the following attorneys’ fees for the risks of prosecuting this 

case on a contingency fee basis: 

a. If the case is settled prior to empanelment of a jury, a sum equal to twenty-five 

percent (25%) of the Recovery; and 

b. If the case is settled after empanelment of a jury, or a judgment in favor of the 

City is obtained, a sum equal to thirty percent (30%) of the Recovery;  

(the “Contingency Fee”).  In calculating the Contingency Fee, the Recovery will first be reduced 

by the Costs as defined in paragraph 4 of this Agreement, and increased by any court awarded 

attorneys’ fees as defined by Paragraph 3.   

2. Recovery.  The term “Recovery” as used herein shall mean all sums and things of 

value received pursuant to any demand upon or litigation against Defendants whether said sums 

are received pursuant to settlement, court proceedings or otherwise.   

3. Court-Awarded Attorneys’ Fees.  If the City recovers court-awarded attorneys’ 

fees, the amount awarded shall be deemed part of the Recovery.  The City understands that if 

they do not prevail on certain claims that may be asserted against the defendants, there is a 

potential for the Court to award attorneys’ fees and costs in favor of Defendants. City 

understands and agrees that any such award in favor of Defendants will be against the City, and 

the City will be solely liable to satisfy such judgment. Attorneys will not be liable for a judgment 

of attorneys’ fees awarded in favor of Defendants. 

4. Costs.  All necessary costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Claims, 

including but not limited to court costs, deposition costs, expert witness fees, witness expenses, 

computer forensic expenses, e-discovery, copying, Westlaw and/or other legal research fees, 

settlement expenses, telephone, travel and lodging expenses of the Attorneys in connection 
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therewith, shall initially be paid for by the Attorneys.  Costs may included case specific expenses 

and the City’s pro rata share of any general case expenses or assessments. General case expenses 

are those expenses incurred in the prosecution of the City’s Claim for the benefit of the City that 

may also arise for other similarly situated municipalities, counties and other parties involved in 

the opioid litigation. If this matter is removed to an Opioid MDL proceeding in federal court, and 

it is determined that the City must pay an assessment to the MDL proceedings for attorneys’ 

fees, legal expenses and/or costs connected to the MDL (the “MDL Assessment”), then the MDL 

Assessment shall be treated as Costs under this Agreement and will be paid to the MDL prior to 

the calculation of the Recovery.  All costs incurred by Attorneys shall be deducted from any 

amounts received and repaid to Attorneys before the Recovery is calculated.  To the extent the 

City receives an award of costs from the Court, the amount awarded shall be deemed part of the 

Recovery. If no Recovery is obtained, City will have no obligation to pay costs, unless the costs 

are costs awarded to Defendants by the Court on the City’s Claims.   

5. Assignment of Portion of Claim.  City hereby transfers and assigns to Attorneys 

an undivided interest in City’s claims.  The undivided interest hereby assigned to Attorneys by 

City is equivalent to the fees, costs, and expenses, including the percentage of any Recovery, that 

City, by this Agreement, promises to pay to Attorneys.  The undivided interest assigned by this 

Agreement is a present, not an executor interest. 

6. Settlement Decisions.  All decisions relative to acceptance or rejection of any 

settlement offer will remain the sole discretion of the City, provided, however, if the City 

neglects to accept the Attorneys’ advice on whether to accept any settlement offer, the City 

agrees they will become liable for all costs incurred in said action and any attorneys’ fees billed 

after the date the City receive written notification from Attorneys that they should accept the 

settlement offer. 

7. Attorneys’ Obligations.  The Attorneys agree that they will diligently institute 

and prosecute said action to a final determination, make all reasonable and necessary efforts to 

collect any judgment that may be rendered therein in favor of the City; that they will promptly 

communicate to the City any offers of compromise; and that, in the event of a judgment 

unfavorable to the City, they will, if in the Attorneys’ sole judgment reasonable grounds 

therefore exist, appeal said cause and prosecute the same to final determination. Attorneys shall 

staff this matter with such attorneys and legal assistants as they deem appropriate. 

8. Withdrawal. Attorneys may withdraw from representation of City’s Claim at 

any time with written notice. 

9. No Guarantee.  The City acknowledges that Attorneys have made no guarantee 

regarding the successful prosecution of the Claim, nor any guarantee regarding the Recovery or 

the type of relief, if any, which the City may obtain therefrom.  Further, the City acknowledges 

that the Attorneys do not warrant or represent the validity of the Claim, the results of any action 

or the collectability of any judgment. 

10. Multiple Representation.  The City understands and agrees that Attorneys may 

represent other clients, including governmental entities, in connection with claims against 

Defendants. Defendants may attempt to settle cases in groups under a matrix-type system 
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whereby our clients are offered different settlement amounts, depending on the circumstances of 

different groups of clients categorized by the specific allegations of misconduct and/or severity 

of damages. Once settlement value under the “matrix” is determined, the City is given the 

opportunity to accept or reject the settlement and/or injunctive relief being offered, within the 

matrix system, for whatever group within which the City may be placed. Defendants may also 

try to settle all or a portion of our clients’ cases as a group, meaning the Defendants may attempt 

to settle all or a portion of your Claim along with a number of other similar cases the Attorneys 

are handling.  When a Defendant offers this “group settlement” system, Attorneys will get each 

client’s authorization for a minimum, gross amount for which the client authorizes the Attorneys 

to attempt to settle the client’s case.  The Attorneys then add up the total of all clients’ minimum, 

authorized settlement values and attempts to settle the group for at least the total of all minimum 

amounts authorized by all the clients.  The City agrees to the above settlement procedures. 

11. Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this 

Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, 

such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions thereof and this 

Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never 

been contained herein. 

12. Amendments and Modifications.  The City and the Attorneys specifically 

acknowledge and agree that this Agreement constitutes the entirety of their agreement and 

supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements, negotiations, or discussions between them; 

and, that this Agreement shall not be amended, modified, or changed in any manner whatsoever 

unless such amendments, modifications, or changes shall be in writing and signed by all the 

parties hereto. 

13. Choice of Law.  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws 

of the State of Oklahoma.  

ATTORNEYS: CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA: 

McAfee & Taft   

 

    

          

By: Todd Court, Vice President  By:       

   

 

Fulmer Sill  ATTEST: 

 

 

          

By: Matthew J. Sill  City Clerk 

 



 
 

 

Assistant City Manager 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

Midwest City, OK  73110 

office 405.739.1201 

 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 

To: Honorable Mayor and Council 

 

From: Tim Lyon, Assistant City Manager 

 

Date: September 11, 2018 

 

Subject: Discussion and consideration of approving a resolution to provide for retention of 

 attorneys to address the opioid epidemic. 

 

 

 

 

Attached is a resolution to provide for retention of attorneys to address the opioid epidemic with 

McAfee & Taft, PC and Fulmer Sill, PLLC. 

 

Staff recommends approval. 

 

If you have any questions, please give me a call at 739-1201. 

 

Tim L. Lyon 
________________________________________ 

Tim Lyon, Assistant City Manager  
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Memorandum 

 

 

TO:  Honorable Mayor and Council 

 

FROM: Sara Hancock, City Clerk 

 

DATE:  September 11, 2018 

 

SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving an ordinance amending the 

Midwest City Municipal Code, Chapter 2, Administration, by amending 

Article VIII, Purchasing, Section 2-116, Generally; and providing for repealer 

and severability. 

 

 

 

Previously, the City Council had made a recommendation to increase the authorization 

amount for the City Manager for purchase of supplies, material, equipment or personal 

services, or any combination thereof; from $17,500 to $25,000.  The attached ordinance will 

update the code to reflect such action.   

 

 

 

 

Staff recommends approval. 

 

 

 

 

________________________ 

Sara Hancock, City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 



RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 

 

RESOLUTION #_______ 

          September ___, 2018 

 

A RESOLUTION TO PROVIDE FOR RETENTION  

OF ATTORNEYS TO ADDRESS OPIOID EPIDEMIC 

 

WHEREAS, pharmaceutical opioids have harmed the City of Midwest City and its 

citizens. This harm was created and exacerbated by the misconduct and 

illegal activities of opioid manufacturers, distributors, and potentially other 

third parties. 

 

WHEREAS, there is a substantial need for legal services to pursue the City of Midwest 

City’s claims against opioid manufacturers, distributors, and potentially 

other third parties. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Midwest City selects the legal team of McAfee & Taft, a 

Professional Corporation, and Fulmer Sill, PLLC to serve as counsel to 

prosecute this matter working under the oversight and approval of the City 

of Midwest City and any designees of the City of Midwest City. 

 

WHEREAS, all fees to be paid to counsel are contingent upon the recovery of penalties, 

damages, attorney’s fees, and costs. Fees shall be paid only from such 

recovery and no money shall be due or paid from the City of Midwest 

City’s general fund or any special fund. 

 

THEREFORE, it was duly moved and seconded that the following resolution be 

adopted. 

 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma hereby 

authorize the filing of a civil suit against opioid manufacturers, distributors, 

and potentially other third parties for penalties, damages, injunctive relief, 

and any other remedy available by law. Such legal action is essential to 

protecting the interests of the City of Midwest City and its citizens. 

  

The City of Midwest City adopted the above Resolution on September ___, 2018. 
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 CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA: 

 

 

       

 By:       

 

Dated this ____ day of September, 2018. 

 

ATTEST: 

 

          

City Clerk  

 

 

 

Date: ___________________         

       McAfee & Taft 

 

 

Date: ___________________         

       Fulmer Sill 

 

 
 



100 N. Midwest Boulevard  Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 

Engineering Division (405) 739-1215  FAX (405) 739-1399  TDD (405) 739-1359 

An Equal Opportunity Employer 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 

  Patrick Menefee, City Engineer 

CURRENT PLANNING DIVISION 

Kellie Gilles, Manager 

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING  

Julie Shannon, Comprehensive Planner 

BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION 

Christine Allison, Building Official 

GIS DIVISION 

Greg Hakman, GIS Coordinator 

The City of        

MIDWEST CITY 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT -  

ENGINEERING DIVISION 

 
Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 

     

 

 

To:  Honorable Mayor and Council 

 

From:  Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 

 

Date:  September 11th, 2018 

 

Subject: Discussion and consideration of awarding the bid to and entering into a contract 

with Cimarron Construction Company in the amount of $416,886.00 for the Sooner 

Road I-40 water line relocation project. 

 

 

Bids were received on August 7th, 2018 for the above referenced project.  Staff recommends 

award of the bid to Cimarron Construction Company which submitted the lowest and best bid 

meeting specifications in the amount of $416,886.00.  Attached are the bid tabulations for the two 

bids received for the project, plus the engineer’s estimate.  The funds for this project are being 

provided to the City by ODOT as part of the utility relocation work necessary for the I-40 Sooner 

Road overpass project.  ODOT is reimbursing the City for all costs associated with this 

project. 
 

 

Staff recommends awarding the bid to Cimarron Construction Company. 

 

 

 

Patrick Menefee, P.E. 

City Engineer 

 

 

Attachments 

 

 



BID TABULATION

ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total

1 6 INCH DUCTILE IRON PIPE C-151 LF 10 $110.00 $1,100 $109.00 $1,090 $288.00 $2,880

2 8 INCH DUCTILE IRON PIPE C-151 LF 253 $95.00 $24,035 $97.00 $24,541 $64.00 $16,192

3 12 INCH DUCTILE IRON PIPE C-151 LF 683 $110.00 $75,130 $118.00 $80,594 $67.00 $45,761

4 6 INCH MJ 22.5 DEGREE BEND EA 2 $450.00 $900 $280.00 $560 $519.00 $1,038

5 8 INCH MJ 45 DEGREE BEND EA 5 $600.00 $3,000 $405.00 $2,025 $713.00 $3,565

6 12 INCH MJ 22.5 DEGREE BEND EA 1 $700.00 $700 $585.00 $585 $1,020.00 $1,020

7 12 INCH MJ 45 DEGREE BEND EA 9 $900.00 $8,100 $705.00 $6,345 $1,682.00 $15,138

8 8X6 INCH MJ TEE EA 1 $600.00 $600 $420.00 $420 $921.00 $921

9 8X8 INCH MJ TEE EA 1 $700.00 $700 $560.00 $560 $1,001.00 $1,001

10 12X6 INCH TEE EA 1 $800.00 $800 $745.00 $745 $1,341.00 $1,341

11 12X12 INCH MJ TEE EA 1 $1,000.00 $1,000 $945.00 $945 $1,838.00 $1,838

12 12X8 INCH REDUCER EA 1 $500.00 $500 $480.00 $480 $714.00 $714

13 12x6 INCH REDUCER EA 3 $600.00 $1,800 $445.00 $1,335 $681.00 $2,043

14 2 INCH AIR RELEASE AND VAULT EA 2 $3,800.00 $7,600 $2,955.00 $5,910 $4,536.00 $9,072

15 6 INCH GATE VALVE & BOX EA 3 $1,400.00 $4,200 $1,675.00 $5,025 $1,390.00 $4,170

16 8 INCH GATE VALVE & BOX EA 2 $1,800.00 $3,600 $2,340.00 $4,680 $1,709.00 $3,418

17 12 INCH GATE VALVE & BOX EA 6 $3,000.00 $18,000 $3,860.00 $23,160 $2,852.00 $17,112

18 12" SOLID SLEEVE, DIP (RESTRAINED) EA 2 $1,200.00 $2,400 $1,660.00 $3,320 $1,075.00 $2,150

19 12 INCH DUCTILE IRON C-151 BORE W/ 20 INCH STEEL CASE LF 159 $335.00 $53,265 $265.00 $42,135 $470.00 $74,730

20 12 INCH DUCTILE IRON C-151 BORE W/ 24 INCH STEEL CASE LF 306 $470.00 $143,820 $427.00 $130,662 $520.00 $159,120

21 6 INCH CAP & MEGALUGS LS 1 $700.00 $700 $620.00 $620 $355.00 $355

22 8 INCH CAP & MEGALUGS EA 6 $1,000.00 $6,000 $675.00 $4,050 $329.00 $1,974

23 12 INCH CAP & MEGALUGS EA 1 $950.00 $950 $1,040.00 $1,040 $589.00 $589

24 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY (COMPLETE) W/ 12 INCH RISER EA 2 $3,500.00 $7,000 $3,795.00 $7,590 $2,828.00 $5,656

25 ABANDON EXISTING 6 INCH WATERLINE LF 13 $5.00 $65 $5.00 $65 $13.00 $169

26 ABANDON EXISTING 8 INCH WATERLINE LF 923 $8.00 $7,384 $7.00 $6,461 $8.00 $7,384

27 ABANDON EXISTING 12 INCH WATERLINE LF 201 $15.00 $3,015 $15.00 $3,015 $15.00 $3,015

28 PRESSURE AND LEAK TESTING LS 1 $5,500.00 $5,500 $9,000.00 $9,000 $2,070.00 $2,070

29 DISINFECTION LS 1 $3,000.00 $3,000 $6,000.00 $6,000 $374.00 $374

30 ODOT AGGREGATE FILL TON 20 $50.00 $1,000 $67.00 $1,340 $45.00 $900

31 CONCRETE SIDEWALK SY 20 $80.00 $1,600 $81.00 $1,620 $86.00 $1,720

32 CONCRETE DRIVE CUT & REPAIR SY 33 $60.00 $1,980 $99.00 $3,267 $143.00 $4,719

33 CONSTRUCTION STAKING LS 1 $9,000.00 $9,000 $15,075.00 $15,075 $2,875.00 $2,875

34 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1 $7,000.00 $7,000 $2,795.00 $2,795 $11,500.00 $11,500

35 SOD AND SITE RESTORATION SY 259 $5.00 $1,295 $4.00 $1,036 $5.00 $1,295

36 EROSION & SEDIMENT CONTROL LS 1 $1,500.00 $1,500 $2,295.00 $2,295 $679.00 $679

37 MOBILIZATION LS 1 $22,061.00 $22,061 $16,500.00 $16,500 $20,004.00 $20,004

$430,300.00 $416,886.00 $428,502.00BID TOTAL

MIDWEST CITY SOONER AND I-40 WATERLINE RELOCATION

BASE BID
Engineer's Estimate Cimarron Construction Company Downey Contracting, LLC
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To:  Honorable Mayor and Council 

 

From:  Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 

 

Date:  September 11th, 2018 

 

Subject: Discussion and consideration of the acceptance of and making a matter of record   

 Permit No. SL000055180611 from the State Department of Environmental Quality 

 for The Estates at Midwest City Sewer Line Extension, Midwest City, Oklahoma. 

 

 

 

Permit No. SL000055180611 is for the construction of 1600 L.F. of eight inch (8”) sewer line to 

serve The Estates at Midwest City, Midwest City, Oklahoma. 

 

 

Staff recommends acceptance as this is consistent with past policy. 

 
 

 

 

Patrick Menefee, P.E. 

City Engineer 

 

 











100 N. Midwest Boulevard  Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 

Engineering Division (405) 739-1215  FAX (405) 739-1399  TDD (405) 739-1359 

An Equal Opportunity Employer 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 

  Patrick Menefee, City Engineer 

CURRENT PLANNING DIVISION 

Kellie Gilles, Manager 

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING  

Julie Shannon, Comprehensive Planner 

BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION 

Christine Allison, Building Official 

GIS DIVISION 

Greg Hakman, GIS Coordinator 

The City of        

MIDWEST CITY 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT -  

ENGINEERING DIVISION 

 
Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 

     

 

 

To:  Honorable Mayor and Council 

 

From:  Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 

 

Date:  September 11th, 2018 

 

Subject: Discussion and consideration of the acceptance of and making a matter of record   

 Permit No. WL000055180389 from the State Department of Environmental Quality 

 for the Turtlewood Addition Section 6 Water Line Extension, Midwest City, 

Oklahoma. 

 

 

 

Permit No. WL000055180389 is for the construction of 1950 L.F. of eight inch (8”) water line to 

serve the Turtlewood Addition Section 6, Midwest City, Oklahoma. 

 

 

Staff recommends acceptance as this is consistent with past policy. 

 
 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Patrick Menefee, P.E. 

City Engineer 
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To:  Honorable Mayor and Council 

 

From:  Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 

 

Date:  September 11th, 2018 

 

Subject: Discussion and consideration of ratifying, approving and entering into the FY 2019 

Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) contract between the Association of 

Central Oklahoma Governments and the City of Midwest City. 

 

 

ACOG has contacted staff regarding continued subcontracting with the city for traffic count data 

collection in order to assist in compiling information for the FY 2018 Unified Planning Work 

Program (UPWP).  ACOG utilizes and shares the traffic data collected with other member entities 

for urban transportation planning activities within the Oklahoma City Area Regional 

Transportation Study (OCARTS).  ACOG will compensate the city 80% ($4,400.00) of the 

$5,500.00 cost of the count data collected from forty vehicular locations as well as pedestrian 

locations. 

 

The contract will be in effect from July 1st, 2017 through June 30th, 2018.  The Engineering 

Division has performed traffic counting for ACOG under the terms of this and similar contracts 

since ACOG’s FY 1995.  Traffic counting is one of the Engineering Divisions normal duties and 

collecting data for ACOG under the terms of the contract allows Midwest City to collect revenue 

for that work which it ordinarily does. 

 

 

 

Patrick Menefee, P.E. 

City Engineer 
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CONTRACT 

 

Between 

 

ASSOCIATION OF CENTRAL OKLAHOMA GOVERNMENTS 

 

and the 

 

CITY OF MIDWEST CITY 

 

 

 

 I. PARTIES AND PURPOSE 

 

This CONTRACT made and entered into this   day of    

 , 2018, by and between the Association of Central Oklahoma Governments 

(ACOG) and the City of Midwest City (MWC) reaffirms the Metropolitan 

Transportation Planning process of the Oklahoma City Area Regional 

Transportation Study (OCARTS). The above cited parties to this CONTRACT 

will hereinafter be referred to individually as ACOG and MWC respectively or, 

individually or collectively as the PARTICIPANT and PARTICIPANTS. 

Frequent reference will be made in this CONTRACT to the Federal Highway 

Administration, United States Department of Transportation, hereinafter referred 

to as FHWA. 

 

The intent of this CONTRACT is to provide MWC funding of the Metropolitan 

Transportation Planning activities within the OCARTS transportation 

management area (TMA) as identified in the FY 2019 Unified Planning Work 

Program (UPWP). The purpose of this CONTRACT is to maintain the 

comprehensive, continuing and cooperative transportation planning process in 

order to provide the most desirable multi-modal transportation system that is 

compatible with community goals and at minimum expense. 

 

 II. EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

The provisions of this CONTRACT shall become effective on the first day of July 

2018, or on the day this Federal-aid project is authorized by FHWA, whichever 

comes later. This CONTRACT shall be effective until all funding provided under 

Section V have been expended but in no event shall the term of this CONTRACT 

be extended beyond June 30, 2019 for expenditure of FHWA Planning (PL) Funds 

without supplementation as provided by Section XV of this CONTRACT. This 
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CONTRACT may be terminated earlier upon thirty (30) days written notice by 

either party as provided for in Section XVI of this CONTRACT.  

 

 III. ORGANIZATION 

 

Policy direction, plan selection, and development of programs for plan 

implementation of the OCARTS Planning Process shall be vested in an 

Intermodal Transportation Policy Committee (ITPC) whose membership and 

responsibilities are detailed in the Memorandum of Understanding signed 

December 18, 2008. The ITPC will send ACOG, the Metropolitan Planning 

Organization (MPO), transportation plans, policies and implementation programs 

for review and endorsement. 

 

 IV. UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM 

 

The specific activities to be conducted and financed during the CONTRACT 

period are prescribed in the FY 2019 UPWP. The UPWP details the tasks, work 

responsibilities, costs and funding sources of each activity to be undertaken within 

the TMA. The product of the UPWP will be a twenty-year comprehensive and 

multi-modal transportation plan for the OCARTS TMA. Approval of the UPWP 

by the PARTICIPANTS, the ITPC, and FHWA will constitute acceptance of the 

UPWP as a part of this CONTRACT, subject to the financing provisions of 

Section V herein. 

 

 V. FINANCING 

 

ACOG presently has funds available, allocated through the FHWA and 

administered by ODOT, which may be used to facilitate Metropolitan 

Transportation Planning. Contingent upon the continued availability of such 

funds, ACOG agrees to participate in the planning effort to be conducted within 

the TMA boundary as detailed in the UPWP. The PARTICIPANTS agree that the 

financing of the OCARTS as set forth in this CONTRACT shall not exceed 

$5,500 of which $4,400 are FHWA's PL Funds and shall be on the basis of direct 

and indirect actual auditable costs incurred as a part of this study and the 

provisions of the Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133. The actual 

costs shall be limited to the equipment rental, office supplies, printing costs, 

personnel salaries, legal fees, personnel selection and placement, personnel 

relocation expenses, office rent and other necessary expenses directly associated 

with actual work performed under this CONTRACT. Allowable costs will be 

determined in accordance with the Office of Management and Budget Circular 

A-87. 

 

The financing provided by this CONTRACT is for eighty percent (80%) of total 

actual auditable costs. The remaining twenty percent (20%) of the costs are to be 

funded by MWC. 
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 VI. DISPUTES RELATED TO FINANCES 

 

In the event of disagreement between the PARTICIPANTS relative to the 

eligibility of or MWC's financial participation in any work item or items contained 

in the UPWP, the details of such disagreement shall be forwarded to both the 

Executive Director of ACOG and the City Manager of MWC who jointly shall 

make the final determination.  

 

 VII. PAYMENT 

 

  Payments for services described in the UPWP and this CONTRACT for 

cooperative funding shall be disbursed by ACOG on the basis of documented 

monthly billings from MWC showing the total actual costs incurred in 

conformance with the UPWP. Such billings shall be submitted to ACOG along 

with a narrative progress report. The billings shall be submitted by the tenth (10th) 

day after the end of any month in which data for 10 or more traffic count locations 

have been collected, except for work completed during the month of June as noted 

below. The billings shall include a list of the traffic counts, billable at the agreed 

upon rate of $100/count. If fewer than 10 traffic counts are collected in any given 

month, the data shall accumulate to a total of 10 or more, and a billing shall be 

submitted in a later month, accordingly. The final billing, for work completed 

before or during June 2019, shall be submitted on or before July 11, 2019. 

   

 VIII. PROGRESS REPORTS 

 

MWC shall provide ACOG progress reports regarding the date and location of the 

traffic counts, as well as hourly and 24-hour total counts, and date and location of 

bicycle and pedestrian counts. Such reports shall be submitted along with a billing 

by the tenth (10th) day after the end of a month for which the billing and report 

are prepared. The final progress report shall be submitted on or before July 11, 

2019. 

 

 IX. INSPECTION OF WORK 

 

ACOG shall be accorded proper facilities for review and inspection of the work 

hereunder and shall at all reasonable times have access to the premises, to all 

reports, books, records, correspondence, instructions, receipts, vouchers, 

memoranda and any other materials of every description which ACOG considers 

pertinent to the work hereunder. The PARTICIPANTS will fully inform each 

other in the event of any review and inspection of work specified hereunder by 

other than PARTICIPANTS. ACOG shall maintain the responsibility of review 

and concurrence in all techniques and methodology utilized in this study. 
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 X. RECORDS 

 

MWC shall maintain accounting records and other evidence pertaining to the costs 

incurred under this CONTRACT. This data will be made available for inspection 

by ACOG, at all reasonable times at the respective offices during the contract 

period and for three years after the date of the final payment of Federal funds to 

ACOG with respect to the study. Copies of such records shall be furnished at cost 

to ACOG. 

 

 XI. OWNERSHIP OF DATA 

 

The ownership of the data collected under this CONTRACT, together with 

reports, brochures, summaries, and all other materials of every description derived 

therefrom, shall be vested in the PARTICIPANT having the major funding 

responsibility for its development, subject to the applicable Federal and State laws 

and regulations.  

 

 XII. INFORMATION AND REPORTS 

 

All information, reports, proposals, brochures, summaries, written conclusions, 

graphic presentations and similar materials developed by MWC and/or its 

consultants and financed in whole or in part by ACOG, shall be submitted to 

ACOG for review and concurrence and shall have the approval of the appropriate 

study committee prior to its public release, presentation, dissemination, 

publication, or other distribution. The distribution of such information and reports, 

whether draft or final and including the UPWP, to any unit of the FHWA shall be 

made through ACOG only. MWC is a public entity subject to the Oklahoma Open 

Records Act.  To the extent that anything in this paragraph conflicts with the Open 

Records Act, it shall be void. 

 

 

 XIII. PUBLICATION PROVISIONS 

 

MWC shall be free to copyright material developed under this CONTRACT with 

the provision that ACOG and FHWA reserve a royalty-free, nonexclusive, and 

irrevocable License to reproduce, publish or otherwise use, and to authorize others 

to use, the work for Government purposes. All reports published under this 

CONTRACT shall contain a credit reference to the FHWA; such as "prepared in 

cooperation with the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway 

Administration." 

 

 XIV. TRAVEL 

 

There are no travel or training expenses eligible for reimbursement under this 

CONTRACT. 

 



 5 

 XV. AMENDMENTS OR MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT 

 

No changes, revisions, amendments or alterations in the manner, scope or type of 

work or compensation to be paid by ACOG shall be effective unless reduced to 

writing and executed by the PARTICIPANTS with the same formalities as are 

observed in the execution of this CONTRACT. 

 

 XVI. TERMINATION OF CONTRACT 

 

This CONTRACT was entered into by the PARTICIPANTS because of their 

mutual accord that the comprehensive, continuing, and cooperative transportation 

planning process provided herein was necessary. Either PARTICIPANT may 

terminate its interest and its obligation under this CONTRACT by giving thirty 

(30) days notice in writing to the other PARTICIPANT, it being understood that 

such termination may be adverse to the interests of the other PARTICIPANT. In 

the event of such termination, MWC shall deliver at cost to ACOG all items 

mentioned in Sections X and XI of this CONTRACT within thirty (30) calendar 

days following the effective termination date. 

 

XVII. GOVERNMENTWIDE NONPROCUREMENT SUSPENSION AND  

  DEBARMENT 

 

In order to protect the public interest, the "Federal-aid Eligibility Certification" 

(Exhibit A) shall be signed by the City Clerk of MWC as to current history 

regarding suspension, debarment, ineligibility, voluntary exclusion, criminal 

convictions, or civil judgements involving fraud or official misconduct of 

himself/herself and any person associated in the administration and management 

of this federally funded project. 

 

 XVIII. USE OF CONSULTANTS 

 

Under the terms of this CONTRACT, MWC may engage qualified consultants to 

perform certain duties on their behalf. All contracts with other parties for services 

within the scope of the Transportation Planning Process shall be justified, in 

writing, by MWC and are subject to prior written approval by ACOG. Contracts 

for work to be done, must, as a minimum, meet the requirements of law relative to 

non-collusion and the provisions of 49 CFR Part 18. U.S. Department of 

Transportation regulations (49 CFR Part 29) require that ACOG shall insure that 

MWC insert in each subcontract the provisions required by "Certification 

Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion" 

(Exhibit B) and further shall require its inclusion in any covered transaction MWC 

may make. All contracts and discussions between ACOG and consultants retained 

by MWC must be initiated through MWC. 
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 XIX. RESPONSIBILITY FOR CLAIMS AND LIABILITY 

 

MWC and/or its consultants shall hold harmless ACOG, ODOT, and FHWA from 

all suits, actions, or claims brought on account of any injuries or damages 

sustained by any person or property in consequence of any negligent acts or 

misconduct by MWC and/or its consultants or the negligent acts or misconduct of 

their subcontractors, agents, or employees arising from this CONTRACT or on 

account of any claims or amount recovered for an infringement of patent, 

trademark, or copyright, or from any claim or amounts arising or recovered under 

the Workers' Compensation Laws or any other laws. MWC and/or its consultants 

shall not be released from such responsibility until all claims have been settled 

and suitable evidence to the effect furnished ACOG. 

 

 XX. COMPLIANCE WITH TITLE VI OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964 

 

MWC and ACOG agree that all operations under the terms of this CONTRACT 

will be in compliance with the applicable requirements of Title 49, Code of 

Federal Regulations, Part 21, which was promulgated to effectuate Title VI of the 

Civil Rights Act of 1964. In furtherance of requirements of Title 49, the following 

clauses and the "Nondiscrimination of Employees" (Exhibit C) are made a part of 

this contract. 

 

The term contractor or consultant shall mean MWC and/or its consultants. 

 

(1) Compliance with Regulations: The contractor will comply with the 

Regulations of the US Department of Transportation relative to 

nondiscrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the US Department of 

Transportation (Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 21, hereinafter 

referred to as the Regulations), which are herein incorporated by reference 

and made a part of this contract. 

 

(2) Nondiscrimination: The contractor, with regard to the work performed by it 

after award and prior to completion of the contract work, will not 

discriminate on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in the selection 

and retention of subcontractors, including procurement of materials and 

leases of equipment. The contractor will not participate either directly or 

indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by Section 21.5 of the 

Regulations, including employment practices when the contract covers a 

program set forth in Exhibit C of the Regulations. 

 

(3) Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurement of Materials and 

Equipment: In all solicitations, either by competitive bidding or negotiation 

made by the contractor for work to be performed under a subcontract, 

including procurement of materials or equipment, each potential 

subcontractor or supplier shall be notified by the contractor of the 
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contractor's obligations under this contract and the Regulations relative to 

nondiscrimination on the grounds of race, color or national origin. 

 

(4) Information and Reports: The contractor will provide all information and 

reports required by the Regulations, or orders and instructions issued 

pursuant thereto, and will permit access to its books, records, accounts, other 

sources of information, and its facilities as may be determined by ACOG or 

the FHWA to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such Regulations, 

orders and instructions. Where any information required of a contractor is in 

the exclusive possession of another who fails or refuses to furnish this 

information, the contractor shall so certify to ACOG or the FHWA as 

appropriate, and shall set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the 

information.  

 

(5) Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of the contractor's noncompliance 

with the non-discrimination provisions of this contract, ACOG shall impose 

such contract sanctions as it or the FHWA may determine to be appropriate 

including, but not limited to: 

 

(a) withholding of payments to the contractor under the contract until the 

contractor complies, and/or 

 

(b) cancellation, termination or suspension of the contract, in whole or in 

part. 

 

(6) Incorporation of Provisions: The contractor will include the provisions of 

paragraph (1) through (6) in every subcontract, including procurement of the 

Regulations, order, or instructions issued pursuant thereto. The contractor 

will take such action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as 

ACOG or the FHWA may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions 

including sanctions for noncompliance: Provided, however, that in the event 

a contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened with, litigation with a 

subcontractor or supplier as a result of such direction, the contractor may 

request the State to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the 

State, and, in addition, the contractor may request the United States Attorney 

to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 

 

 XXI. COMPLIANCE WITH MINORITY BUSINESS ENTERPRISE ACT 

 

MWC and ACOG agree to adhere to the requirements that are specified in 

Sec. 23. 43, (General Requirements for Recipients) of 49 CFR 23 "Participation 

by Minority Business Enterprise in Department of Transportation Programs." A 

copy of the "Disadvantaged Business/Women's Business Enterprises" (Exhibit D) 

is attached hereto and becomes part of this CONTRACT. 
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 XXII. COMPLIANCE WITH CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 

 

MWC agrees to adhere to Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code which in part 

prohibits the use of Federal appropriated funds by the PARTICIPANT(S) for 

influencing the making or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan or 

cooperative agreement. A signed copy of the "Certification for Federal-Aid 

Contracts" (Exhibit E) regarding lobbying is attached hereto and becomes part of 

this CONTRACT. 

 

 XXIII. COVENANTS AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES 

 

MWC warrants that it has not employed or retained any company or person 

specifically to solicit or secure this CONTRACT, and that it has not paid or 

agreed to pay any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gifts, or any other 

consideration, contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this 

CONTRACT. For breach or violation of this warranty ACOG shall have the right 

to annul this CONTRACT without liability, or at its discretion, to deduct from the 

CONTRACT price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the full amount of such 

fee, commission, percentage brokerage fee, gift, or contingent fee. 

 

 XXIV. PRIOR UNDERSTANDING 

 

This CONTRACT incorporates and reduces to writing all prior understanding, 

promises, agreements, commitments, covenants or conditions, and constitutes the 

full and complete understanding and contractual relationship of the 

PARTICIPANTS. 

 

 XXV. GOVERNING RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

MWC and its subcontractors shall comply with all Federal, State and local laws, 

statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any court 

or administrative bodies or tribunals in any nature affecting the performance of 

this CONTRACT including workman's compensation laws, minimum and 

maximum salary and wage statutes and regulations. When required, MWC shall 

furnish ACOG with satisfactory proof of its compliance therewith. 

 

 XXVI. GOVERNING LAW AND REGULATIONS 

 

This CONTRACT shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of 

the State of Oklahoma and the applicable rules, regulation, policies and 

procedures of the Oklahoma Transportation Commission. 

 

 XXVII. HEADINGS 
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Article headings used in this CONTRACT are inserted for convenience of 

reference only and shall not be deemed a part of this CONTRACT for any 

purpose. 
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XXVIII. BINDING EFFECT 

 

This CONTRACT shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of ACOG and 

MWC and shall be binding upon their successors and subject to the limitation of 

Oklahoma Law. 

 

 XXIX. NOTICES 

 

All demands, requests, or other communications which may be or are required to 

be given, served or sent by either party to the other pursuant to the CONTRACT 

shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been properly given or sent: 

 

(1) if intended for ACOG, by mailing by first class mail or, if sender prefers, by 

registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, with postage prepaid, 

addressed to ACOG at: 

 

Association of Central Oklahoma Governments 

4205 N. Lincoln Blvd. 

Oklahoma City, OK  73105 

 

(2) if intended for MWC, by mailing by first class mail or, if sender prefers, by 

registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, with postage prepaid, 

addressed to MWC at: 

 

    The City of Midwest City 

    Attention: Traffic Engineer 

    100 N Midwest Boulevard 

    Midwest City, OK 73110 

 

 XXX. SEVERABILITY 

 

If any provision, clause or paragraph of this contract or any document 

incorporated by reference shall be determined invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the other provisions, clauses or 

paragraphs of this contract which is not affected by the determination. The 

provisions, clauses or paragraphs and any documents incorporated by reference 

are declared severable and the invalidation of any such provision, clause, 

paragraph or document incorporated by reference shall not affect the remaining 

provisions, clauses, paragraphs and documents incorporated by reference which 

shall continue to be binding and of full legal efficacy. 
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 EXECUTION OF CONTRACT 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, ACOG AND THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY HAVE 

EXECUTED THIS CONTRACT AS OF THE DATE FIRST ABOVE WRITTEN. 

 

ATTEST:       ASSOCIATION OF CENTRAL 

        OKLAHOMA GOVERNMENTS 

 

 

          

Secretary       Chairman, Board of Directors 

 

 

        

Pete White, General Counsel 

 

 

 

ATTEST:       THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY 

 

 

          

City Clerk       Mayor 

 

Approved as to form and legality this   day of    , 2018. 

 

 

___________________________________________________ 

Legal Counsel, City of Midwest City 
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EXHIBIT A 
 

FEDERAL-AID ELIGIBILITY CERTIFICATION 

 

 

The undersigned hereby certifies to the best of his or her knowledge and belief: 

 

(1) That he or she is the fully authorized agent of the Prospective Participant in this 

project which involves, Federal funding and has full knowledge and authority 

to make this certification.  

 

(2)  That, neither the Prospective Participant nor any person associated therewith in 

the capacity of director, officer, manager, auditor or accountant, nor any person 

in a position involving the administration of federal funds: 

 

a. Is currently under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion, or 

determination of ineligibility by any federal agency; and 

 

b. Has been suspended, debarred, voluntarily excluded or determined 

ineligible by any federal agency within the past three (3) years; and 

 

c. Has a proposed debarment pending; and 

 

d. Has been indicted, convicted, or had a civil judgment rendered against any 

of the aforementioned by a court of competent jurisdiction in any matter 

involving fraud or official misconduct within the past three years, except: 

 

      None 

   (If none so state by entering the word none.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

         

  Date     City Clerk, City of Midwest City 
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 EXHIBIT B (page 1 of 2) 
 

 ADDENDUM TO FORM FHWA-1273, REQUIRED CONTRACT PROVISIONS 

 

 

This certification applies to subcontractors, material suppliers, vendors and other lower tier 

participants. 

 

- Appendix B of 49 CFR Part 29 - 

 

Appendix B -- Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary 

Exclusion -- Lower Tier Covered Transactions 

 

Instructions for Certification 
 

1. By signing and submitting this proposal, the prospective lower tier participant 

is providing the certification set out below. 

 

2. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which 

reliance was placed when this transaction was entered into. If it is later 

determined that the prospective lower tier participant knowingly rendered an 

erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies available to the Federal 

Government, the department or agency with which this transaction originated 

may pursue available remedies, including suspension and/or debarment. 

 

3. The prospect lower tier participant shall provide immediate written notice to the 

person to which this proposal is submitted if at any time the prospective lower 

tier participant learns that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has 

become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances. 

 

4. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible," "lower 

tier covered transaction," "participant," "person," "primary covered 

transaction," "principal," "proposal," and "voluntarily excluded," as used in this 

clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and Coverage sections of 

rules implementing Executive Order 12549. You may contact the person to 

which this proposal is submitted for assistance in obtaining a copy of those 

regulations. 

 

5. The prospective lower tier participant agrees by submitting this proposal that, 

should the proposed covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly 

enter into any lower tier covered transaction with a person who is debarred, 

suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in 

this covered transaction, unless authorized by the department or agency with 

which this transaction originated. 
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EXHIBIT B (page 2 of 2) 
 

6. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal 

that it will include this clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment, 

Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion -- Lower Tier Covered 

Transaction," without modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in 

all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions. 

 

7. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a 

prospective participant in a lower tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, 

suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from the covered transaction, 

unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may decide the 

method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. 

Each participant may, but is not required to, check the Nonprocurement List. 

 

8. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment 

of a system of records in order to render in good faith the certification required 

by this clause. The knowledge and information of a participant is not required 

to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary 

course of business dealings. 

 

9. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 5 of these instructions, if a 

participant in a covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered 

transaction with a person who is suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily 

excluded from participation in this transaction, in addition to other remedies 

available to the Federal Government, the department or agency with which this 

transaction originated may pursue available remedies, including suspension 

and/or debarment. 

 

Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion 

-- Lower Tier Covered Transactions 

 

(1) The prospective lower tier participant certifies, by submission of this proposal, 

that neither it nor its principals is presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 

debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in 

this transaction by any Federal department or agency. 

 

(2) Where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the 

statements in this certification, such prospective participant shall attach an 

explanation to this proposal. 
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EXHIBIT C (page 1 of 3) 
 

NONDISCRIMINATION OF EMPLOYEES 

 

 

During the performance of this contract, MWC, for itself, its assignees, and 

successors in interest hereby covenants and agrees as follows: 

 

(1) MWC and its subcontractors shall provide equal employment opportunities for all 

qualified persons within the limitations hereinafter set forth, and shall not 

discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 

color, religion, sex, national origin, age, or handicap. 

 

(2) That any subcontract entered into by MWC for performance of any portion of the 

work covered under this Contract shall incorporate all of the provisions of this Special 

Provision, "Nondiscrimination of Employees," and the same shall be appended to said 

subcontract and incorporated therein by reference. 

 

(3) MWC shall refrain from "discriminatory practices," as hereinafter defined. It is a 

discriminatory practice for MWC to: 

 

(a) Fail or refuse to hire, to discharge or otherwise to discriminate against an 

individual with respect to compensation or the terms, conditions, privileges or 

responsibilities or employment, because of race, color, religion, sex, national 

origin, age or handicap; or  

 

(b) To limit, segregate or classify an employee in a way which would deprive or 

tend to deprive an individual of employment opportunities or otherwise 

adversely affect the status of an employee, because of race, color, religion, 

sex, national origin, age or handicap; or 

 

(c) Discriminate against an individual because of race, color, religion, sex, 

national origin, age or handicap, in admission to, or employment in, any 

program established to provide apprenticeship, on-the-job training or 

retraining; or 

 

(d) Publish or cause to be printed or published any notice or advertisement 

relating to employment by MWC indicating a preference, limitation, 

specification, or discrimination, based on race, color, religion, sex, national 

origin, age or handicap, except where such preference, limitation, specification 

or discrimination based on religion, sex or national origin is a bona fide 

occupational qualification for employment; or 
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EXHIBIT C (page 2 of 3) 
 

(e) Retaliate or discriminate against a person because said person has opposed a 

discriminatory practice, or because said person has made a charge, filed a 

complaint, testified, assisted or participated in an investigation, proceeding or 

hearing under Chapter 21, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, 1991; or 

 

(f) Aid, abet, incite or coerce a person to engage in a discriminatory practice; or 

 

(g) Willfully interfere with the performance of a duty or the exercise of a power 

by the Oklahoma Human Rights Commission or one of its members or 

representatives; or 

 

(h) Willfully obstruct or prevent a person from complying with the provisions of 

Chapter 21, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, 1991; or 

 

(i) Attempt to commit, directly or indirectly, a discriminatory practice, as defined 

herein and as defined in Chapter 21, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, 1991. 

 

(4) MWC further agrees to refrain from discrimination by reason of race, color, religion, 

sex, national origin, age or handicap, against any persons, firm or corporation 

furnishing independent contract labor or materials to MWC in the performance of this 

Contract. 

 

(5) Sanctions for Noncompliance - In the event MWC violates or refuses to abide by any 

of the provisions herein set forth, ACOG reserves the right and option to: 

 

(a) Withhold payments to MWC until MWC furnishes satisfactory evidence of 

compliance and correction of all violations; or 

 

(b) Cancel, terminate or suspend the Contract, in whole or in part, without further 

liability to ACOG other than payment for work performed up to the effective 

date of cancellation or termination of the contract. 

 

(c) All violations which are not corrected by MWC within such time as is 

specified by ACOG in its notice of violation, shall be reported to the 

Oklahoma Human Rights Commission for such further proceedings as said 

Commission deems reasonable and necessary. 

 

(6) Immediately upon notification of Contract award, MWC shall submit to ACOG's 

Internal Equal Employment Officer a list by number, percentage, and position, 

including the identifying minority group employees who will be actively engaged in 

the Contract performance. 
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EXHIBIT C (page 3 of 3) 
 

(7) MWC hereby agrees to be bound by and subject itself to the provisions of Title 29, 

Code of Federal Regulations, Parts 1601-1605, inclusive, insofar as the same have 

been adopted by the Oklahoma Human Rights Commission for governing procedural 

matters concerning the administrative operations, functions, duties and 

responsibilities of said Commission. 

 

(8) MWC further agrees to be bound by and be subject to any and all laws, statutes, or 

regulations of administrative agencies of the State of Oklahoma, pertaining to 

employment practices in contracts being funded either in whole or in part with funds 

of the State of Oklahoma, and to the requirements of any and all laws, statutes or 

regulations of administrative agencies of the State of Oklahoma, and to the 

requirements of any and all laws, statutes or regulations of administrative agencies of 

the State of Oklahoma pertaining to equal employment opportunity and 

nondiscrimination requirements in such contracts and public projects being so funded. 
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 EXHIBIT D (page 1 of 2) 
 

 OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

  

 DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS/WOMEN'S BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 

  

 POLICY STATEMENT 

 

 

It is the policy of the Oklahoma Department of Transportation to ensure that Disadvantaged 

Business/Women's Enterprises (DBE/WBE) as defined in 49 CFR Part 23 shall have the 

maximum opportunity to participate in the performance of contracts financed in whole or in 

part with federal funds under this CONTRACT. Consequently, the DBE/WBE (formerly 

MBE) requirements of 49 CFR Part 23 apply to this CONTRACT. 

 

The Oklahoma Department of Transportation or its Consultants which are recipients of 

Federal-aid funds agree to ensure that disadvantaged business/women's enterprises as defined 

in 49 CFR Part 23 have the maximum opportunity to participate in the performance of 

contracts and subcontracts financed in whole or in part with federal funds provided under this 

CONTRACT. In this regard, the Oklahoma Department of Transportation, ACOG, MWC, 

and Consultants shall take all necessary and reasonable steps in accordance with 40 CFR Part 

23 to ensure that disadvantaged business/women's business enterprises have the maximum 

opportunity to compete for and perform contracts. The Oklahoma Department of 

Transportation, ACOG, MWC, and Consultants shall not discriminate on the basis of race, 

color, national origin, religion, or sex in the award and performance of Oklahoma 

Department of Transportation assisted contracts. 

 

Failure to carry out the requirements set forth above shall constitute a breach of contract and, 

after the notification of the Oklahoma Department of Transportation, may result in 

termination of the contract by the recipient or other such remedy as the recipient deems 

appropriate. 
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 EXHIBIT D (page 2 of 2) 
 

 OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

  

 CONTRACTING WITH SMALL AND MINORITY FIRMS, WOMEN'S 

  

 BUSINESS ENTERPRISE AND LABOR SURPLUS AREA FIRMS 

 

 

(1) It is national policy to award a fair share of contracts to small and minority business 

firms. Accordingly, affirmative steps must be taken to assure that small and minority 

businesses are utilized when possible as sources of supplies, equipment, and services. 

Affirmative steps shall include the following: 

 

(a) Including qualified small and minority business on solicitation lists. 

 

(b) Assuring that small and minority businesses are solicited whenever they are 

potential sources. 

 

(c) When economically feasible, dividing total requirements into smaller tasks or 

quantities so as to permit maximum small and minority business participation. 

 

(d) Where the requirement permits, establishing delivery schedules which will 

encourage participation by small and minority business. 

 

(e) Using the services and assistance of the Small Business Administration, the 

Office of Minority Business Enterprise of the Department of Commerce and 

the Community Services Administration as required. 

 

(f) If any subcontracts are to be let, requiring the prime contractor to take the 

affirmative steps in (a) through (e) above. 

 

(2) Grantees shall take similar appropriate affirmative action in support of women's 

business enterprises. 

 

(3) Grantees are encouraged to procure goods and services from labor surplus areas. 

 

(4) Grantor agencies may impose additional regulations and requirements in the 

foregoing areas only to the extent specifically mandated by statute or presidential 

direction. 
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 EXHIBIT E 
 

 CERTIFICATION FOR FEDERAL-AID CONTRACTS 

 

 

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 

 

(1)  No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf 

of the undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an 

officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in 

connection with the awarding of any federal contract, the making of any 

Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any 

cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, 

or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

 

(2)  If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be 

paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 

employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of 

Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this 

Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall 

complete and submit standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Forms to Report 

Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions. 

 

(3) The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be 

included in the award documents for all subawards in excess of $100,000, at 

all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, 

and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and 

disclose accordingly. 

 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when 

this transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for 

making or entering into this transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any 

person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less 

than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 

 

 

 

    

Date     City Clerk, City of Midwest City 

 



Public Works Administration  

Vaughn Sullivan, Director 

vsullivan@midwestcityok.org 

R. Paul Streets, Assistant Director 

                                              rstreets@midwestcityok.org 

      www.midwestcityok.org                                                8730 S.E. 15
th

 Street, 
                                                                   Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 

                                                              O: 405-739-1060 /Fax: 405-739-1090 

        

Memorandum 

 

To:  Honorable Mayor and Council 

From:  Vaughn K. Sullivan, Public Works Director 

 

Date:  September 11, 2018 

 

Subject: Discussion and consideration of reappointing Taiseka Adams to the Midwest City Park and 

Recreation Board for a three-year term ending on September 12, 2021. 

 

Taiseka Adams term on the Park and Recreation Board has expired and wishes to continue to serve 

another term.  

 

Taiseka Adams is a ward 5 re-appointment. The current Park and Recreation Board members 

include: Aaron Budd, and David Clampitt from Ward 2; Jeremy Griffin from Ward 3; Casey Hurt 

from Ward 4; and John Manning from Ward 6. 

 

Action is at the discretion of the Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

Vaughn K. Sullivan 

Public Works Director 

 

 



ENGINEERING DIVISION 

 Patrick Menefee, City Engineer 

CURRENT PLANNING DIVISION 

Kellie Gilles, Planning Manager 

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING  

Julie Shannon, Comprehensive Planner 

BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION 

Christine Allison, Building Official 

GIS DIVISION 

Greg Hakman, GIS Coordinator 

The City of 

MIDWEST CITY 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

 
 

Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

 

 

To:         Honorable Mayor and City Council 

 

From:     Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

 

Date:      September 11, 2018 

 

Subject:  Discussion and consideration of : 1) declaring as surplus a printer; 3 office 

chairs; plan holder; 2 bound atlases; 2 coffee table map books; Cellugraf 5/16” signals – 

1 box;  2 MX-20 holders; Post It note tray; index card box; assorted jewel cases; note 

tray; Sharp calculator; Universal twin spool ribbon for Canon, Sharp, Royal; Ruwe 

markers – 1 box; Bates old style phone number keeper; express moistener; wire remote 

holder; metal file fasteners – partial box; 3 typewriter ribbons Monroe Marc 2 EPC; Tru-

Point abrasive cups – 2 boxes; machine eraser strips – 2 boxes; index card box separators 

6X4 – partial pack; and 2) authorizing their disposal by public auction or sealed bid.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

 

 

This agenda item will declare the items on the attached list surplus.  The condition of 

these items is listed on the attached spreadsheet. 

 

If declared surplus, these items will be placed on the City’s eBay website for disposal. 

 

Staff recommends approval. 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Billy Harless, AICP 

Community Development Director 

 

BH/lkb 

 



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT SURPLUS – 9.11.18 

Item How Many Condition 

printer 1 unknown 

office chairs 3 fair 

plan holder 1 fair 

bound atlases 2 good 

coffee table map books 2 good 

Cellugraf 5/16” signals 1 box fair 

MX-20 holders 2 unknown 

Post It note tray 1 fair 

index card box 1 good 

jewel cases assorted fair 

note tray 1 fair 

Sharp calculator 1 unknown 

Universal twin spool ribbon for Canon, Sharp, Royal 1 unknown in box 

Ruwe markers 1 box unknown 

Bates old style phone number keeper 1 fair 

express moistener 1 unknown 

wire remote holder 1 good 

metal file fasteners Partial box good 

typewriter ribbon Monroe Marc 2 EPC 3 unknown in box 

Tru-Point abrasive cups 2 boxes unknown 

machine eraser strips 2 boxes unknown 

index card box separators 6X4 partial pack good 

 



Public Works Administration  

Vaughn Sullivan, Director 
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      www.midwestcityok.org                                                8730 S.E. 15
th

 Street, 
                                                                   Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 

                                                              O: 405-739-1060 /Fax: 405-739-1090 

        

Memorandum 

 

To:  Honorable Mayor and Council 

From:  Vaughn K. Sullivan, Public Works Director 

 

Date:  September 11, 2018 

 

Subject: Discussion and consideration of declaring as surplus property Optec Message Board Serial 

#011457-01-00151, Equipment # 3428-R-24X64, Stihl weedeater serial # 510649437 

equipment # 09-07-105, Stihl weedeater Serial # 388963746, equipment # 09-07-69, Stihl 

weedeater serial # 502781672, equipment # 09-07-128, quantity two (2) 5 to 12 year old 

children climbing sets,  quantity one (1) each: 4 swings swing set, 16’ monkey bars, 5 to 12 

year old children enclosed slides, Harley Davidson golf cart, Low Boy semi trailer serial # 

1A1835205D1535921, equipment # 09-10-11, Low Boy semi trailer serial # 11679TR1, 

equipment # 09-10-01 and International semi truck serial # 1HSGGG3RXMH325895 

equipment # 09-03-18. 

 

This equipment listed has been removed from service.  There are no other operational applications 

available within the City. 

 

Staff recommends approval. 

 

 

 

 

Vaughn K. Sullivan 

Public Works Director 
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The City of        

MIDWEST CITY 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

 
 

Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

 

To:          Honorable Mayor and City Council 

 

From:      Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

 

Date:       September 11, 2018 

 

SUBJECT : (PC-1961) Discussion and consideration of approving and passing an ordinance 

amending Appendix A, Zoning Regulations, of the Midwest City Code; by 

amending Section 5, Supplemental Regulations, Section 5.12 Exterior 

Construction and Design Requirements, Section 5.12.1 Exterior Construction 

Requirements and Standards and providing for repealer and severability. 

 

Currently, the Zoning Ordinance requires 85% masonry exterior construction on 

residential structures with 100% masonry material facing the street. Staff has considered 

the following products as masonry products: brick, rock, stone and stucco.  

 

In recent years, staff has been approached by a number of builders and citizens hoping to 

build a farmhouse style home in Midwest City. While some of these homes do 

incorporate traditional masonry products, most have a considerable amount of 

cementitious fiber board siding. A handful of builders/citizens have made application 

with the Board of Adjustment to ask for a variance to allow the use of more than the 

allowable 15% of cementitious fiber board siding.  

 

Due to the rise in popularity of this material, staff has researched the product, visited with 

producers of cementitious fiber board siding and researched codes for other cities that 

have allowed this product. Staff has found that this material is similar to other traditional 

masonry products with regard to durability and has proposed an ordinance to allow 

cementitious fiber board as a masonry product. It should be noted that the proposed 

ordinance does prohibit vinyl siding and wood as exterior materials.  

 

Notice of this item was not published prior to being heard by the Planning Commission 

on July 3, 2018. Notice has since been published and the item was re-heard by the 

Planning Commission on September 4, 2018. This item appeared on the August 14, 2018 

Council agenda as Further Information.  

 

Staff recommends approval. 

 

 
Billy Harless, AICP 

Community Development Director 

 

KG 
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ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING APPENDIX A, ZONING REGULATIONS, OF THE 

MIDWEST CITY CODE; BY AMENDING SECTION 5, SUPPLEMENTAL 

REGULATIONS, SECTION 5.12 EXTERIOR CONSTRUCTION AND DESIGN 

REQUIREMENTS, SECTION 5.12.1 EXTERIOR CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS 

AND STANDARDS AND PROVIDING FOR REPEALER AND SEVERABILITY. 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA: 

 

ORDINANCE 

 

SECTION 1. That Appendix A, Zoning Regulations, of the Midwest City Code, is hereby 

amended by amending Section 5.12.1 Exterior Construction Requirements and Standards is 

amended as follows:  

 

5.12.1. Exterior Construction Requirements and Standards 

(A) Masonry requirement for residential uses 

(1) All single and two family homes shall have one hundred (100) percent masonry materials on 

the sides of ground floors (facades) facing a public street. 

a. Exceptions: Masonry requirements do not apply above the plate line or trim work, such 

as gables and soffits. The masonry coverage calculation does not include doors, windows, 

window box-outs, eaves, or bay windows that do not extend to the foundation. 

(2) All single, two family, and multifamily developments shall consist of eighty-five (85) percent 

masonry materials. 

(3) Prohibited: Concrete masonry units,  and concrete panel construction, vinyl siding, wood, 

engineered or manufactured wood, medium density fiberboard, particle board or masonite shall 

be prohibited in 

the construction of residential units. 

(4) Approved materials for residential construction include: brick, rock, stone, stucco, 

cementitious fiberboard and other materials as approved by staff. 

 

 

SECTION 2. REPEALER.   All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are 

hereby repealed. 

 

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any section, sentence, clause or portion of this ordinance is 

for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such portion shall be deemed a separate, 

distinct and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining 

portions of this ordinance. 

 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, 

on the ____ day of _____________, 2018. 
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      THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 

 

 

      ________________________________________ 

      MATTHEW D. DUKES, III Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 

SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED as to form and legality this _____ day of ____________, 2018. 

 

 

     

      _________________________________________ 

      Heather Poole, Interim City Attorney 
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AN ORDINANCE AMENDING APPENDIX A, ZONING REGULATIONS, OF THE 

MIDWEST CITY CODE; BY AMENDING SECTION 5, SUPPLEMENTAL 

REGULATIONS, SECTION 5.12 EXTERIOR CONSTRUCTION AND DESIGN 

REQUIREMENTS, SECTION 5.12.1 EXTERIOR CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS 

AND STANDARDS AND PROVIDING FOR REPEALER AND SEVERABILITY. 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA: 

 

ORDINANCE 

 

SECTION 1. That Appendix A, Zoning Regulations, of the Midwest City Code, is hereby 

amended by amending Section 5.12.1 Exterior Construction Requirements and Standards is 

amended as follows:  

 

5.12.1. Exterior Construction Requirements and Standards 

(A) Masonry requirement for residential uses 

(1) All single and two family homes shall have one hundred (100) percent masonry materials on 

the sides of ground floors (facades) facing a public street. 

a. Exceptions: Masonry requirements do not apply above the plate line or trim work, such 

as gables and soffits. The masonry coverage calculation does not include doors, windows, 

window box-outs, eaves, or bay windows that do not extend to the foundation. 

(2) All single, two family, and multifamily developments shall consist of eighty-five (85) percent 

masonry materials. 

(3) Prohibited: Concrete masonry units,  concrete panel construction, vinyl siding, wood, 

engineered or manufactured wood, medium density fiberboard, particle board or masonite shall 

be prohibited in the construction of residential units. 

(4) Approved materials for residential construction include: brick, rock, stone, stucco, 

cementitious fiberboard and other materials as approved by staff. 

 

 

SECTION 2. REPEALER.   All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are 

hereby repealed. 

 

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any section, sentence, clause or portion of this ordinance is 

for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such portion shall be deemed a separate, 

distinct and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining 

portions of this ordinance. 

 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, 

on the ____ day of _____________, 2018. 

 

      THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 
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      ________________________________________ 

      MATTHEW D. DUKES, III Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 

SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED as to form and legality this _____ day of ____________, 2018. 

 

 

     

      _________________________________________ 

      Heather Poole, Interim City Attorney 
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To:         Honorable Mayor and City Council 

 

From:     Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

 

Date:      September 11, 2018 

 

Subject:  (PC – 1960)  Discussion and consideration of approval of the proposed 

preliminary plat of Windsor Meadows, described as a part of the NE/4 of Section 1, 

T11N, R2W, located on the west side of Saint Paul Ave. This item was tabled at the July 

24, 2018 City Council meeting. 

 

Dates of Hearing:  Planning Commission –July 3, 2018 

City Council – July 24, 2018 and September 11, 2018 

 

Council Ward: Ward 2, Pat Byrne 

 

Applicant:  Frank McLendon 

 

Engineer: Derek Jackson 

 

Proposed Use:  Thirty-five (35) single family residential lots 

 

This item was first heard by the Council at the July 24, 2018 meeting. At that meeting, 

surrounding neighbors expressed concerns about the density, cul-de-sac length, possible 

water contamination and drainage. At that meeting, the Council voted to table this item to 

the September 11, 2018 meeting to allow the applicant to make revisions to the plat if 

they wished and also to provide additional information about the condition of the ground 

water and how drainage would be handled. At the July 24, 2018 meeting, the applicant 

waived the 60 day action required by the Subdivision Regulations. On July 25, 2018, the 

City Engineer sent the applicant’s engineer information for DEQ water testing.  

 

The applicant and his engineer hosted a meeting on August 22, 2018 with the 

surrounding property owners. Several staff members, Councilman Byrne and the Mayor 

attended this meeting as well. The applicant did provide two options for revisions to the 

plat. In one option, the street length was the same as originally proposed but the density 

was lowered from 38 lots to 35 lots. This increased the width of lots from approximately 

52’ to 56’-60’. The other option showed the street shortened to 999’ in length and the lots 

remained approximately 52’ in width. Neighbors again expressed concerns about the 

possible groundwater contamination and drainage. At that time, the applicant and 

engineer stated that they had not done any further research into the possible 

contamination issue nor had they prepared any additional information regarding drainage.  
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Staff, Councilman Byrne and the Mayor stressed the importance of needing this 

information. Community Development Director Billy Harless explained the platting 

process, noting that if the preliminary plat is approved, the applicant has the right to 

begin submitting construction plans. He explained that if there are unresolved issues, they 

must be addressed before the preliminary plat would be approved.  

 

Staff advised the applicant’s engineer that information for the September 11, 2018 City 

Council meeting had to be submitted by August 31. Staff spoke to the applicant’s 

engineer on August 31, 2018 and asked if they had any additional information regarding 

drainage or the ground water to submit. He stated that he did not have any additional 

drainage information to submit and that he called DEQ and was told that the only 

circumstances under which they would come and test the water was if something 

detrimental has recently occurred that would affect the habitat and vegetation or if the 

water was going to be used for consumption. The applicant’s engineer sent staff the plat 

showing 35 lots for single family development. This is slightly different from the original 

plat that showed 38 single family lots. 

 

No information concerning wetlands from the Department of the Interior has been 

submitted as requested by the City Council at the July 25, 2018 meeting.  

 

As noted above and in the July 24 Council meeting and again in the August 22 

neighborhood meeting, the applicant was made aware of several concerns and was given 

ample time to work on resolving those issues.  To date, the reduction of density by 3 lots 

was the only item that was somewhat addressed, as a result, staff recommends denial.  

Action is at the discretion of the City Council. 

 

Action Required:   Approve or reject the preliminary plat of Windsor Meadows located 

on the property as noted herein, made a part of PC- 1960 file. 

 

 

 
Billy Harless, AICP 

Community Development Director 

 

KG 
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To:         Honorable Mayor and City Council 

 

From:     Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

 

Date:      September 11, 2018 

 

Subject:  (PC – 1960)  Discussion and consideration of approval of the proposed 

preliminary plat of Windsor Meadows, described as a part of the NE/4 of Section 1, 

T11N, R2W, located on the west side of Saint Paul Ave. This item was continued at the 

July 24, 2018 City Council meeting. 

 

Executive Summary: This item is a request to subdivide a single parcel into thirty-five  

(35) individual parcels for single family development. The proposed lots all have 

frontage onto a new proposed street named SE 5
th

 Street. The applicant is proposing 

water and sewer line extensions to serve all of the lots. The area of request is currently 

zoned R-6, Single Family Detached Residential. No variances to any of the requirements 

of the Zoning Ordinance for development in the R-6 district will be allowed within this 

development. The Park Land Review Committee recommended approval of the proposed 

park land to be dedicated to the Homeowners Association. Tree preservation will be 

required with this subdivision. As the applicant has not provided the information 

requested by the Council at the 

July 24 meeting and the 

attendees of the August 22 

neighborhood meeting, staff 

recommends denial.  

 

Update from the July 24, 2018 

City Council meeting: 

The City Council voiced four 

main concerns to the applicant 

and his design engineer at the 

July 25 meeting.  The council 

asked them to provide updated 

information to city staff 

addressing these concerns so it 

could be put forth to the council 

prior to the September 11, 2018 

meeting.  First, the applicant 

and the design engineer were 

instructed to submit application to the Department of Interior to get direction concerning 

the mitigation or relocation of the wetlands on site.  Staff provided the developer with the 

application for the Department of Interior’s wetland evaluation.  Staff has not received 

any verification that the application has been submitted to the Department of Interior.  
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Second, the cleanliness of the water in the pond was questioned and council instructed 

the applicant to test its water quality before granting any permission to disturb the 

property.  Staff provided the developer with the Department of Environmental Quality’s 

(D.E.Q.) water testing application.  Staff has not received any verification that the 

application has been submitted to D.E.Q.  Third, a question concerning the adjacent 

watersheds and the potential impact of the proposed development on them was brought 

forward.  The applicant and design engineer were instructed to provide further 

information verifying that the upstream and downstream properties would not be 

affected.  Any further information concerning the drainage basins has not been submitted 

to staff.  Finally, the applicant was asked to address the density issue and length of cul-

de-sac requiring a variance for the length at 1,179 feet.  The applicant’s proposal reduced 

the density by 3 lots by increasing the width of lots.  The proposed length of the street 

remains 1,179 and requires a variance. 

 

Update from the July 3, 2018 Planning Commission meeting: Several surrounding 

residents voiced concerns regarding this development at the July 3, 2018 Planning 

Commission meeting. Staff has followed up on the concerns and provided additional 

information below:  

 

Wetlands and ODEQ Water Sampling 

An identified wetland is located on the area of request as shown on the Choctaw 

quadrangle of the National Wetlands Inventory map as prepared by the United States 

Department of the Interior Fish and Wildlife Service.  See the attached map.  The pond is 

a provisional wetland, meaning when it holds water, it is a wetland as identified on the 

accompanying map.   

 

The applicant must get clearance from the Oklahoma Department of Wildlife 

Conservation to eliminate the pond and must provide that documentation to city staff 

prior to the issuance of any permits. The map below on the left is the City’s Wetlands 

map which shows a provisional wetland near the area of the proposed detention pond. 

The map on the right is the National Wetlands Inventory and shows the wetland area in 

the area request. 

 

   
 

During the July 3rd, 2018 Planning Commission meeting, residents adjacent to the area 

of request voiced concerns about the cleanliness of the pond water, asking for it to be 

tested for toxicity.   
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Staff spoke with Vickey Smith at O.D.E.Q. scheduling a test of the water.  O.D.E.Q., 

who has jurisdiction over this type of body of water (the city does not), will report their 

findings to the developer and city staff concerning any clean up issues regarding the 

pond.  If any pond reclamation orders are issued, the developer will be responsible for the 

completion of them prior to the issuance of any permits.  

 

Comparison to surrounding subdivisions 

Kanaly’s Homeland 2
nd

 Addition (SE 4
th

 Street) 

This addition contains 21 lots on block 1 and 21 lots on block 2 for a total of 42 lots. 8 of 

the 42 lots do front onto St. Paul rather than SE 4
th

 Street. All but 2 of the lots fronting 

onto SE 4
th

 Street are 63.3’ wide and between 293’-295’ deep. The 2 lots at the end of the 

street are 66.93’ wide. The lots within this subdivision are approximately 18,648 square 

feet. 

This subdivision is approximately 855,057.5 sq. ft. or 19.63 acres. There are 

approximately 2.13 dwelling units per acre in this subdivision. 

SE 4
th

 Street is approximately 1318’ in length and serves 34 lots. 

Homeland Addition (SE 6
th

 Street) 

This addition contains 20 lots on block 1 and 20 lots on block 2 for a total of 40 lots. 8 of 

the 40 lots front onto St. Paul rather than SE 6
th

 Street. All but 2 of the lots fronting onto 

SE 6
th

 Street are 63.75’ wide and 304’ deep. The 2 lots at the end of the street are 66.86’ 

wide. The lots with the subdivision are approximately 19,380 square feet.  

This subdivision is approximately 869,880 square feet or 19.97 acres. There are 

approximately 2 dwelling units per acre in this subdivision.  

SE 6
th

 Street is approximately 1320’ in length and serves 32 lots. 

 

Windsor Meadows(SE 5
th

 Street) 

This proposed addition contains 38 lots total. All of the lots are 52’-52.02’ wide. The lots 

on the north side of the proposed street are 152’-154’ deep. Lot sizes on the north side of 

the proposed street range from 8012.42 square feet to 7941.18 square feet. The lots on the 

south side of the proposed street are 123.90’ deep. The lot sides on the south side of the 

street are approximately 6445 square feet. The lots around the cul-de-sac at the end of the 

proposed street are larger, ranging from 7118.15 square feet to 12,421.89 square feet. The 

lot width and depths of all lots meet the minimum requirements for the R-6, single family 

residential zoning district (50’ minimum lot width and 100’ minimum lot depth). 

This subdivision is approximately 8.25 acres. There are 4.606 proposed dwelling units 

per acre in the Windsor Meadows Subdivision.  

The proposed street of SE 5
th

 is approximately 1179.13’ in length and will serve 37 

residential lots and one lot that is intended as a detention area/open space.  

 

Street Length 

Due to the length of the property and the fact that is inaccessible from the west, the 

applicant requested a variance to the requirement of the Subdivision Regulations that a 

PUD be required for a cul-de-sac exceeding 1000’ in length. This was considered a major 

variance which can be approved by a 5/7 vote of the Planning Commission. This variance 

was approved with the recommendation of approval for the Windsor Meadows 

Preliminary Plat at the July 3 Planning Commission meeting. It should be noted that the 

Fire Department has reviewed this plat and did not oppose the length of the proposed 

street.  
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The proposed street of SE 5
th

 is similar, in fact shorter, in length to the existing streets of 

SE 4
th

 and SE 6
th

. As the parcel is inaccessible from any other way, staff recommended 

approval of this request.  

 

Dates of Hearing:  Planning Commission –July 3, 2018 

City Council – July 24, 2018, September 11, 2018 

 

Council Ward: Ward 2, Pat Byrne 

 

Applicant:  Frank McLendon 

 

Engineer: Derek Jackson 

 

Proposed Use:  Thirty-eight (35) single family residential lots 

 

Size:  
The area of request has a frontage along Saint Paul Avenue of approximately 100 ft. and 

contains an area of approximately 8.25 acres. 

 

Zoning Districts: 

Area of Request – R-6, Single Family Detached Residential  

North, South, East and West – R-6, Single Family Detached Residential 

 

Land Use:   

Area of Request – vacant 

North, South and East – single family residences 

 

Municipal Code Citation: 

2.7.1. R-6, Single –Family Detached Residential District 

The R-6, Single-Family Detached Residential District is intended for single-family 

residences on lots of not less than 6,000 square feet in size. This district is estimated to 

yield a maximum density of 5.1 gross dwelling units per acre (DUA). 

Additional uses for the district shall include churches, schools and public parks in logical 

neighborhood units. 

 

38-18.1. Purpose 

The purpose of a Preliminary Plat shall be to determine the general layout of the 

subdivision, the adequacy of public facilities needed to serve the intended development, 

and the overall compliance of the land division with applicable requirements of the 

Subdivision Ordinance. 

 

History:   

1. This area has been zoned single-family residential since the adoption of the 1985 

zoning code and has never been platted. 

2. Planning Commission recommended approval of this item on July 3, 2018. 

3. The City Council tabled this item at the July 24, 2018 meeting to allow the 

applicant to provide additional information. 

4. The applicant hosted a neighborhood meeting on August 22, 2018 to discuss 

eliminating three (3) lots and making the remaining lots wider. Staff, the Mayor 

and Councilmember Byrne attended this meeting.  
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Engineer’s Comments: 

Water Supply and Distribution   

A six (6) inch public water main is located on the west side of Saint Paul Avenue in the 

street right-of-way extending along the east side of the area of request. 

 

The applicant proposes to construct a public water line extension along the north side of 

the area of request in the proposed S.E. 5th Street right of way. 

 

Improvement plans for the water line extension must be prepared by a registered 

professional engineer and be submitted to staff for plan review and approval. 

 

Extension of the water supply to serve this property is required as outlined in Municipal 

Code 43-32. 

           

Connection to the public water supply system for domestic service is a building permit 

requirement per Municipal Code 43-32 for all new buildings. 

 

Sanitary Sewer Collection and Disposal 

Section 38-18 in the Subdivision Regulations requires all existing and proposed public 

sanitary sewer mains be reflected on the preliminary plat.   

 

An eight (8) inch public sewer main is located in a dedicated utility easement along the 

west side of the area of request. 

 

The applicant proposes to construct a public sewer line extension along the south side of 

the area of request in the proposed S.E. 5th Street right of way. 

 

Improvement plans for the sewer line extension must be prepared by a registered 

professional engineer and be submitted to staff for plan review and approval. 

 

Connection to the public sanitary sewer system for domestic service is a building permit 

requirement per Municipal Code Chapter 43-109 for all lots. 

 

Streets and Sidewalks 

Section 38-18 in the Subdivision Regulations requires all existing and proposed public 

streets and sidewalks be reflected on the preliminary plat.   

 

Access to the area of request is available from Saint Paul Avenue.  Saint Paul Avenue is 

classified as a collector street in the 2008 Comprehensive Plan.  Saint Paul Avenue is a 

two (2) lane, 32-foot wide, curbed, asphalt concrete roadways.  Current code requires a 

total street right-of-way width of sixty (60) feet for collector roads and presently, Saint 

Paul Avenue has sixty (60) feet of right-of-way adjacent to and parallel to the east side of 

the area of request. 

 

The applicant proposes to construct a public local street, S.E. 5th Street, with sidewalks 

to service the area of request. 

 

Improvement plans for the street and sidewalks must be prepared by a registered 

professional engineer and be submitted to staff for plan review and approval. 
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Drainage and Flood Control, Wetlands, and Sediment Control 

Drainage across the area of request is from the east to the west to the south via overland 

flow.  Currently, the area of request is undeveloped.  Drainage from the site continues 

west, joining an unimproved channel that drains southwest, eventually draining into 

Soldier Creek, Tributary 6. 

 

The applicant proposes an on-site detention pond to service the area of request. 

 

Improvement plans for the detention pond and any accompanying drainage structures 

must be prepared by a registered professional engineer and be submitted to staff for plan 

review and approval.  

 

Staff has asked an outside consultant to review the drainage report submitted by the 

applicant to ensure that this proposed development will not adversely affect neighboring 

properties. At the time of this writing, staff has not received the consultants findings. The 

findings will be made available at or before the Planning Commission meeting on July 3. 

 

The area of request is not affected by flood zone AE (the 100-year floodplain) as shown 

on the effective Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) number 40109C0330H, dated 

December 12, 2009. 

 

All future development on the proposed tracts must conform to the applicable 

requirements of Municipal Code Chapter 13, "Drainage and Flood Control." 

 

Resolution 84-20 requires that developers install and maintain sediment and/or erosion 

controls in conjunction with their construction activities.  Any proposed development 

must conform to the applicable requirements of Municipal Code Chapter 43, "Erosion 

Control."  Sediment control plans must be submitted to and approved by the city before 

any land disturbance is done on-site. The developer is responsible for the cleanup of 

sediment and other debris from drainage pipes, ditches, streets and abutting properties as 

a result of his activities. 

 

Easements and Right-of-Way 

The required easements and existing and proposed right of way for the area of request are 

illustrated on the preliminary plat and will be dedicated to the city when the final plat is 

filed. 

 

All easements and right of way dedications are to comply with Code Sections 38-41 and 

38-44. 

 

Fire Marshal’s Comments: 

The Fire Department has reviewed this preliminary plat. The property is required to meet 

and maintain the requirements of Midwest City Ordinances, Section 15. The cul-de-sac 

for this development shall be a minimum of 96’ in diameter with a street clear width 

minimum of 26’0”.       

 

Staff Comments: 

The purpose of this preliminary plat is to create 35 single family residential lots. One lot 

will be used for detention and park land.  
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The area of request is zoned R-6, Single Family Detached Residential. If this proposed 

subdivision is approved, all development will be required to meet the regulations for the 

R-6 district as stated in the Zoning Ordinance. These regulations include: 

 At least 70% of the dwelling units within the development must adhere to section 

5.15 of the Zoning Ordinance pertaining to single-family driveways and garages 

 The exterior of each home must be constructed of a minimum of 85% masonry 

materials, 100% facing the street 

 25’ front setback, 20’ rear setback, 7’ side setbacks 

 40% maximum building coverage 

 Minimum 5:12 roof pitch 

 

One new curb-cut along Saint Paul Ave. will provide access to the area of request. As this 

subdivision is creating less than 50 lots, a secondary point of access is not required.  

 

The Park Land Review Committee met on June 14, 2018 to review the proposed park 

land/open space. According to the calculations provided in the 2012 Subdivision 

Regulations, the applicant is required to provide .18 acres of parks and open space.  

 

The applicant is proposing an area containing a total of .31 acres of private park and open 

space to be maintained by the Homeowners Association. The HOA covenants must be 

provided to staff with the Final Plat application and provisions for care and maintenance 

of the park land/open space must be included.  

 

A portion of the proposed park land must adhere to the following considerations:  

 Be located between a building and street or completely bound by streets 

 Be viewable from public space 

 Any slope of the pond area may not exceed 33% 

 Accessible by patrons 

 Contain a seating area, public area or fountain 

 One tree or planter at least 16 square feet for every 200 square feet of open space 

and be located within or adjacent to the open space. 

 

Section 38-53.4 of the 2012 Midwest City Subdivision Regulations requires the applicant 

to submit a Tree Canopy Management Plan with the preliminary plat application. The 

applicant has provided this plan. The Subdivision Regulations allow developers to 

preserve trees with two (2) options. The first option is standard compliance wherein the 

applicant may only remove trees from proposed street right-of-ways, proposed utility 

easements and proposed areas for site features required by the Subdivision Regulations. 

The second option allows the developer to create a cluster development, preserving trees 

in designated open spaces. The applicant has chosen to pursue the first option, standard 

compliance. Under this requirement of the code, the applicant may only remove trees 

from the proposed right-of-ways, easements, and areas of site features. All other trees on 

the lot must remain through the entire platting process.  

 

During pre-application meetings between staff and the applicant, there were many 

discussions about how to proceed with the 33’ strip of land that abuts Saint Paul Ave. on 

the far north side of the area of request. The lot was created many years ago and is non-

conforming to current codes due to it being a flag shape. Section 38-48.5(A) of the 

Subdivision Regulations requires that lots be shaped regularly and prohibits flag shaped 
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lots. Prior to submission of the preliminary plat application, the applicant met with the 

property owner abutting the 33’ strip to the south. The applicant and property owner have 

agreed to deed the 33’ strip of land to the abutting property owner contingent upon 

approval of this preliminary plat. They have submitted a letter signed by both parties 

detailing the agreement. If this preliminary plat is approved, the 33’ strip of land will be 

deeded to the abutting property owner and will no longer be a part of this proposed 

subdivision. Proposed lot 1 will become 52.14’ wide by 154.14’ deep, containing an area 

of 8,036.86 square feet. Staff met with an Escrow Assistant at American Eagle Title on 

June 20 and confirmed that the transfer of property would be allowed by quit claim deed.  

  

As the applicant has not provided staff with the information requested at the July 24, 

2018 Council meeting and the August 22, 2018 neighborhood meeting, staff recommends 

denial of this request. 

 

Action Required:   Approve or reject the preliminary plat of Windsor Meadows located 

on the property as noted herein, subject to the staff comments and found in the September 

11, 2018 agenda packet and made a part of PC- 1960 file. 

 

 

 
Billy Harless, AICP 

Community Development Director 

 

KG 
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Memorandum 

 

 

TO:  Honorable Mayor and Council 

 

FROM: Sara Hancock, City Clerk 

 

DATE:  September 11, 2018 

 

SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving an ordinance amending the 

Midwest City Municipal Code, Chapter 2, Administration, by amending 

Article VIII, Purchasing, Section 2-116, Generally; and providing for repealer 

and severability. 

 

 

 

Previously, the City Council had made a recommendation to increase the authorization 

amount for the City Manager for purchase of supplies, material, equipment or personal 

services, or any combination thereof; from $17,500 to $25,000.  The attached ordinance will 

update the code to reflect such action.   

 

 

 

 

Staff recommends approval. 

 

 

 

 

________________________ 

Sara Hancock, City Clerk 
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ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE MIDWEST CITY MUNICIPAL CODE, CHAPTER 2, 
ADMINISTRATION, BY AMENDING ARTICLE VIII, PURCHASING, SECTION 2-116, 
GENERALLY; AND PROVIDING FOR REPEALER AND SEVERABILITY 

 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCL OF THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA: 
 

ORDINANCE 
 
SECTION 1. That Chapter 2, Administration, Article VIII, Purchasing, Section 2-116, Generally, is 
hereby amended to read as follows:   
 
 
Section 2-116.  Generally. 
 

(a)  For the purpose of this article every contract for, or purchase of supplies, materials, equip-

ment or personal services, or any combination thereof, for more than seventeen  twenty-

five thousand five hundred dollars ($17,500.00 25,000.00) shall require the prior approval 

of the city council, and under no circumstances may such contract or purchase be made 

without obtaining the approval of the city council.  

(b)     All purchases of supplies, materials, equipment or personal services, or any combination 

thereof, for the various departments and agencies of the city government of seventeen  

twenty-five thousand five hundred dollars ($17,500.00 25,000.00), or less, shall be made 

by the city manager or other city personnel in accordance with the Charter and procedures 

established by the city manager.  

 

 

SECTION 2. REPEALER.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 
repealed. 

 

 
SECTION 3.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section, sentence, clause or portion of this ordinance is for 
any reason held to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of 
the ordinance. 
 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, on 
the _____day of _________, 2018. 
 
 
 

THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 
 
 

_______________________________________ 
MATTHEW D. DUKES, II, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED as to form and legality this _____

 
day of _____________, 20__. 

 
 
 

_______________________________________ 
PHILIP W. ANDERSON,HEATHER POOLE, In-

terim City Attorney 
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ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE MIDWEST CITY MUNICIPAL CODE, CHAPTER 2, 
ADMINISTRATION, BY AMENDING ARTICLE VIII, PURCHASING, SECTION 2-116, 
GENERALLY; AND PROVIDING FOR REPEALER AND SEVERABILITY 

 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCL OF THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA: 
 

ORDINANCE 
 
SECTION 1. That Chapter 2, Administration, Article VIII, Purchasing, Section 2-116, Generally, is 
hereby amended to read as follows:   
 
 
Section 2-116.  Generally. 
 

(a)  For the purpose of this article every contract for, or purchase of supplies, materials, equip-

ment or personal services, or any combination thereof, for more than  twenty-five thousand 

 dollars ($ 25,000.00) shall require the prior approval of the city council, and under no cir-

cumstances may such contract or purchase be made without obtaining the approval of the 

city council.  

(b)     All purchases of supplies, materials, equipment or personal services, or any combination 

thereof, for the various departments and agencies of the city government of twenty-five 

thousand dollars ($ 25,000.00), or less, shall be made by the city manager or other city per-

sonnel in accordance with the Charter and procedures established by the city manager.  

 

 

 
SECTION 2.  REPEALER.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 
repealed. 
 
 
SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any section, sentence, clause or portion of this ordinance is for 
any reason held to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of 
the ordinance. 
 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, on 
the _____day of _________, 2018. 
 

THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 
 
 

_______________________________________ 
MATTHEW D. DUKES, II, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED as to form and legality this _____

 
day of _____________, 20__. 

 
 
 

_______________________________________ 
HEATHER POOLE, Interim City Attorney 



100 N. Midwest Boulevard  Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 

Engineering Division (405) 739-1215  FAX (405) 739-1399  TDD (405) 739-1359 

An Equal Opportunity Employer 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 

  Patrick Menefee, City Engineer 

CURRENT PLANNING DIVISION 

Kellie Gilles, Manager 

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING  

Julie Shannon, Comprehensive Planner 

BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION 

Christine Allison, Building Official 

GIS DIVISION 

Greg Hakman, GIS Coordinator 

The City of        

MIDWEST CITY 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT -  

ENGINEERING DIVISION 

 
Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

 

______________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

To: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

 

From: Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

 

Date: September 11
th

, 2018 

 

Subject: Discussion and consideration of accepting the resignation of two previous members, 

Rella Johnson and Valencia Howell, and appointing three new members to the Original Mile 

Reinvestment Committee.   

 

Goals of Committee: In 2011 consulting firm Ochsner, Hare & Hare prepared a revitalization 

plan for the Original Mile neighborhood. Over the past few years many goals of the plan have 

been implemented. Several suggested tasks remain to bring the plan to fruition. The committee 

gives input and guidance on which steps to take next. 

 

Suggested Committee Appointments: Amy Otto, Brian Ensey, Susan Gilcrest 

 

Staff recommends approval. 

 
 

 

______________________________ 

Billy Harless, AICP 

Community Development Director 

JS 

 
 

 



 

 

      

 
NEW BUSINESS/                    

PUBLIC DISCUSSION 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL 
AUTHORITY AGENDA 

 

 

The 7:00 PM meetings will be shown live on Channel 20.  
 

The recorded video will be available on Youtube and the City’s website  
  within 48 hours at www.youtube@midwestcityok.org.  

 

The meeting minutes and video can be found on the City’s website in the  
  Agenda Center: https://midwestcityok.org/AgendaCenter. 

To make a special assistance request, call 739-1215 or email    
  pmenefee@midwestcityok.org no less than 24 hours prior to the start of a  
  meeting. If special assistance is needed during a meeting, call 739-1388. 

 
 

  

https://midwestcityok.org/AgendaCenter


 

MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY AGENDA 
City Hall - Midwest City Council Chambers, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

 
September 11, 2018 - 7:02 PM 

 
A.      CALL TO ORDER. 

B.      CONSENT AGENDA. These items are placed on the Consent Agenda so that the Trustees, by unanimous 
 consent, can approve routine agenda items by one motion. If any item proposed does not meet with approval of all 
 Trustees, or members of the audience wish to discuss an item, it will be removed and heard in regular order. 

1. Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the staff briefing, and regular 
meeting of August 28, 2018, as submitted. (City Clerk - S. Hancock)   

2. Discussion and consideration of approving the management representation letter to Grant 
Thornton LLP and accepting the associated Combined Financial Statements of Sooner Town 
Center II, LLC for calendar years ending December 31, 2016 and 2017. (G. Henson - City 
Manager) 

C.  DISCUSSION ITEM. 

1. Discussion and consideration of action to reallocate assets, change fund managers or make 
changes in the Statement of Investment Policy, Guidelines and Objectives. (Secretary - S. 
Hancock)  

D.  NEW BUSINESS/PUBLIC DISCUSSION. The purpose of the "Public Discussion Section" of the Agenda is 
 for members of the public to speak to the Authority on any Subject not scheduled on the Regular Agenda. The 
 Authority shall make no decision or take any action, except to direct the City Manager to take action, or to schedule 
 the matter for discussion at a later date. Pursuant to the Oklahoma Open Meeting Act, the Authority will not engage in 
 any discussion on the matter until that matter has been placed on an agenda for discussion. THOSE ADDRESSING 
 THE AUTHORITY ARE REQUESTED TO STATE THEIR NAME AND ADDRESS PRIOR TO SPEAKING TO 
 THE AUTHORITY. 

E.  ADJOURNMENT. 

 



 

 

      

 CONSENT AGENDA 



A notice for staff briefings of the Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority was filed for the calendar 
year with the City Clerk of Midwest City. Public notice of this agenda was accessible at least 24 hours 

before this meeting at City Hall and on the Midwest City website (www.midwestcityok.org). 
 

Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority Staff Briefing Minutes  

 

August 28, 2018 – 6:00 PM 
 

This regular meeting was held in the Midwest City Council Conference Room on the second 
floor of City Hall, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard, Midwest City, County of Oklahoma, State of 
Oklahoma.  
 
Discussion. 

 

Clarification of agenda items, handouts, and presentation of new or additional information 

for items on the Hospital Authority agenda for August 28, 2018.  
 
No meeting was held.  
 
 
  
 _______________________________________ 
ATTEST: MATTHEW D. Dukes II, Chairman 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, Secretary 



A notice for the regular Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority was filed for the calendar year with 
the City Clerk of Midwest City. Public notice of this agenda was accessible at least 24 hours before this 

meeting at City Hall and on the Midwest City website (www.midwestcityok.org). 
 

Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority Minutes 
 

August 28, 2018 – 7:02 pm 
 
This meeting was held in the Midwest City Council Chambers at City Hall, 100 North Midwest 
Boulevard, Midwest City, County of Oklahoma, State of Oklahoma.  
 
Chairman Matt Dukes called the meeting to order at 8:17 PM with the following members 
present: Trustees: Susan Eads, Pat Byrne, Españiola Bowen, Sean Reed, Christine Allen, and Jeff 
Moore; and Secretary Sara Hancock. Absent: none. 
 

DISCUSSION ITEMS. 
 
1. Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the staff briefing, and 

regular meeting of August 14, 2018, as submitted. Eads made a motion to approve the 
minutes, as submitted, seconded by Byrne. Voting aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, 
Moore, and Chairman Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion carried. 

 
2. Discussion and consideration of supplemental budget adjustments to the Hospital 

Authority Fund for FY 2018-2019, decrease: Hospital Authority Fund, expenses 

/Hospital Authority (90) $1,084,510.  Byrne made a motion to approve the adjustments, as 
submitted, seconded by Allen. Voting aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and 
Chairman Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion carried. 
 

3. Discussion and consideration of action to reallocate assets, change fund managers or 

make changes in the Statement of Investment Policy, Guidelines and Objectives. No 
action taken.  
 

NEW BUSINESS/PUBLIC DISCUSSION.  
 
There was no new business or public discussion. 

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION. 
 

1. Discussion and consideration of 1) entering into executive session, as allowed under 

25 O.S. § 307(C)(10), to confer on matters pertaining to economic development, 

including the transfer of property, financing or the creation of a proposal to entice a 

business to remain or to locate within the City, and 2) in open session, authorizing 

the general manager/administrator to take action as appropriate based on the 

discussion in executive session. The executive session was not needed. 
 

2. Discussion and consideration of entering into executive session as allowed under 25 

O.S., § 307(B)(4) to be briefed on potential pending litigation. The executive session 
was not needed.
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ADJOURNMENT.   

There being no further business, Chairman Dukes adjourned the meeting at 8:19 PM. 

 
 

 
ATTEST:                           ___________________________________ 
       MATTHEW D. DUKES II, Chairman 

 
______________________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, Secretary 



 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
 
TO:  Hospital Authority Chairman and Trustees 
 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, City Manager 
 
DATE:  September 11, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving the management representation letter to 

Grant Thornton LLP and accepting the associated Combined Financial Statements of 
Sooner Town Center II, LLC for calendar years ending December 31, 2016 and 2017 

 
 
Attached for your review and approval are the management representation letters and financial 
statements for calendar years 2016 and 2017. 

 
J. Guy Henson 
City Manager 
 
Attachments 
 



Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
1111 Metropolitan Avenue #700, Charlotte NC 28204 

 
  

 

September 11, 2018 

 

Grant Thornton LLP 
201 S. College St., Suite 2500 
Charlotte, NC 28244 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

We are providing this letter in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Sooner Town Center 
II, LLC (the “Entity”), which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 2017and the related statements 
of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to 
the  financial statements. We understand that your audits were made for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”). 

We have fulfilled our responsibility, as set out in the terms of the Engagement Letter, for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. We acknowledge our 
responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to error or 
fraud, including programs and controls to prevent and detect fraud.  

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are 
considered to be material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting 
information that, in light of the surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a 
reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or 
misstatement. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary 
for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves, as of September 11, 2018, the following representations 
made to you during your audit.  

1. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud. We have no knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the 
Entity involving:  

a. Management 
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or  
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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2. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Entity’s financial 
statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short 
sellers, or others.  

3. There are no known violations or possible violations of, or no known instances of noncompliance or 
suspected noncompliance with, laws and regulations whose effects should be considered by management 
when preparing the financial statements, as a basis for recording a loss contingency or for disclosure.  

4. The Entity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on 
the financial statements in the event of a noncompliance.  

5. The Entity has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of 
assets and liabilities.  

6. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Entity’s related parties and all related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware. Related party relationships and transactions and related amounts 
receivable from or payable to related parties (including sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing 
arrangements, and guarantees) have been properly accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements 
in accordance with US GAAP.  

We understand that “related parties” include (1) affiliates of the Entity; (2) entities for which investments 
in their equity securities would be required to be accounted for by the equity method by the investing 
entity; (3) trusts for the benefit of employees, such as pension and profit-sharing trusts that are managed 
by or under the trusteeship of management; (4) principal owners of the Entity and members of their 
immediate families; and (5) management of the Entity and members of their immediate families.  

Related parties also include (1) other parties with which the Entity may deal if one party controls or can 
significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to an extent that one of the 
transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests; and (2) other parties 
that can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the transacting parties or that 
have an ownership interest in one of the transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an 
extent that one or more of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own 
separate interests. 

7. There are no known actual or possible litigation, claims, or assessments that our legal counsel has advised 
us are probable of assertion whose effects should be considered by management when preparing the 
financial statements and that should be accounted for and disclosed in accordance with US GAAP 
(FASB Accounting Standards Codification® (ASC) 450, Contingencies). 

8. The calculation of participation rent for the year ended December 31, 2017 as determined in the 
supplementary schedules of net operating income, debt service, net cash flow, and subtenant rents are 
prepared in compliance with the terms as defined in the Westside General Ground Lease (the 
Agreement). We have read the supplementary schedules and believe the information presented is 
consistent with and accurately reflects the provisions contained in the Agreement. 

9. We believe the information included in the Leases footnote to the financial statements, which describes 
the participation rent calculation, is consistent with our understanding of the agreement. 
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10. We believe that the rent expense for participation rent was $64,207 for the year ended December 31, 
2017. 

11. We believe that amounts due for participation rent are $82,436 as of December 31, 2017. 

12. No events have occurred subsequent to the date of the financial statements through the date of this letter 
that would require, in accordance with US GAAP, recognition or disclosure in the financial statements. 

Very truly yours, 

SOONER TOWN CENTER II, LLC 

 

__________________________________________ 
Robert Collett 
Managing Member 
 

__________________________________________ 
John Cheek 
Consultant to Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
 

__________________________________________  
Kemp Woollen 
Chief Financial Officer of Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
 
 
MIDWEST CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
 

__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Chairman 
 
 
 
MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPTIAL AUTHORITY 
 

__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Chairman 
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Grant Thornton LLP 
U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 

 

 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

To the Members of 
Sooner Town Center II, LLC: 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
(an Oklahoma limited liability company), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016, and the related statements of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Sooner Town Center II, LLC as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Supplementary information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as 
a whole. The supplementary information presented in Schedules I through IV is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such 
supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. 
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements and certain additional procedures. These additional procedures included 
comparing and reconciling the information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole.  

Charlotte, North Carolina 
August 31, 2018 
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Balance sheets 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Assets
Real property, at cost:
Buildings 6,867,756           6,867,756           
Land improvements and signage 1,772,745           1,772,745           

8,640,501           8,640,501           

Less – Accumulated depreciation (1,618,331)          (1,327,348)          
Real property, net 7,022,170           7,313,153           

Other assets:
Cash 542,440              383,425              
Accounts receivable 44,334                41,630                
Deferred rent receivable 18,166                12,930                
Deferred charges and other assets, net 319,929              380,216              

Total assets 7,947,039           8,131,354           

Liabilities and members’ deficit
Liabilities:
Notes payable (net of deferred loan costs of $52,792 at 12/31/2017 and $39,751 at 12/31/2016)            8,289,514            8,494,016 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 387,330              232,290              
Unearned revenue 58,639                59,938                

Total liabilities 8,735,483           8,786,244           
Members’ deficit (788,444)             (654,890)             

Total liabilities and members' deficit 7,947,039           8,131,354           
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Statements of operations 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 
For the years ended December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Rental revenues 1,236,856           1,236,853           
Operating expenses:

Common area maintenance 71,293                81,195                

General and administrative expenses 291,097              293,051              

Rent expense 129,811              143,964              

Depreciation and amortization 357,392              390,454              

Total operating expenses 849,593              908,664              
Interest expense 461,430              416,133              
Net loss (74,167)               (87,944)               
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Statements of changes in members’ deficit 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Total Members' 
Deficit

$
Members' deficit, December 31, 2015 (520,988)                         

Net loss (87,944)                           

Distributions (45,958)                           
Members' deficit, December 31, 2016 (654,890)                         
Net loss (74,167)                           
Distributions (59,387)                           
Members' deficit, December 31, 2017 (788,444)                         
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Statements of cash flows 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

For the years ending December 31 2017 2016

 $  $ 
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (74,167)            (87,944)            
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 290,983            303,749            
Amortization 66,409             86,705             
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (2,704)              42,447             
Deferred rent receivable (5,236)              (5,236)              
Deferred charges and other assets (3,703)              (2,477)              
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 155,040            48,805             
Unearned revenue (1,299)              (68,181)            

Net cash provided by operating activities 425,323            317,868            
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on note payable (204,558)           (193,185)           
Cash paid for deferred loan costs (2,363)              -                   
Member distributions (59,387)            (45,958)            

Net cash used in financing activities (266,308)           (239,143)           
Net increase in cash 159,015            78,725             
Cash, beginning of year 383,425            304,700            
Cash, end of year 542,440            383,425            

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest 455,079            420,336            

Supplemental schedule of non-cash financing activities:
Deferred loan costs financed by debt borrowing              13,097                     -   
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Notes to financial statements 

 

1 Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies 
Organization 

Sooner Town Center II, LLC (an Oklahoma limited liability company) (the Company) was organized in 
January 2012 for the purpose of acquiring, developing and leasing commercial properties in Oklahoma.  The 
Company operates a retail center (the Project) located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Project is defined by a 
ground lease agreement between Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority, an affiliate of Midwest City, 
Oklahoma (collectively, the City) and the Company.  The City is considered to be a related party for financial 
reporting purposes.  The Company is responsible for design, construction, financing, leasing and management of 
the Project, all subject to City approval.  Income and loss will be allocated to members in accordance with the 
operating agreement. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company classifies highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of three months or less as cash 
equivalents. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company’s operating property is located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Company’s ability to generate 
future revenues is dependent upon the economic conditions within this area. 

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had three tenants.  Each tenant comprised more than 10% of 
total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.  One tenant comprised more than 10% of 
accounts receivable as of December 31, 2017, and two tenants comprised more than 10% of accounts receivable 
as of December 31, 2016. 

The Company maintains its cash in a commercial bank.  Regularly during the year, the Company maintained cash 
and cash equivalents in accounts in excess of the amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  
The Company’s management regularly monitors the financial stability of these financial institutions. 

Revenue Recognition 

Rental revenue is generally recognized based on the terms of leases entered into with tenants.  Rental revenue 
from leases with scheduled rent increases, incentives or abatements is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
non-cancelable term of the respective leases.  Property operating cost recoveries from tenants for common area 
maintenance, real estate taxes and other recoverable costs totaled $261,919 and $263,295 for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, are recognized in the period in which the related expenses are 
incurred, and are included in rental revenues in the accompanying statements of operations.  Receivables relating 
to these recoveries totaled $1,326 and $0 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are recognized as 
accounts receivable on the accompanying balance sheets.  If it becomes probable that a tenant will fail to perform 
according to the terms of the lease, a loss equal to the accrued rental revenue unlikely to be received from that 
tenant would be charged to operations.  The Company also earns percentage rent from a tenant based on a gross 
receipts calculation.  This revenue is recognized in the period it is earned.  Receivables relating to percentage rent 
totaled $43,008 and $41,630 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are recognized as accounts 
receivable on the accompanying balance sheets.   

Rental revenue recognized on a straight-line basis over rents due amounted to $5,236 for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016. 
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Revenue received in advance from tenants is recognized as unearned revenue on the accompanying balance 
sheets.  Unearned revenue was $58,639 and $59,938 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.   

The Project consists of 69,308 square feet of retail space and was completed in 2012.  At December 31, 2017, 
three tenants occupying 69,308 square feet were operating under non-cancelable leases providing for future 
minimum rents of $5,626,457, with the latest expiration date of July 31, 2029. 

Future minimum rents receivable under non-cancelable leases for all known tenants at December 31, 2017, are as 
follows.  Most leases have renewal options, which are not included below. 

Amount
$

2018 845,452      
2019 829,204      

2020 829,204      
2021 829,204      
2022 829,204      
Thereafter 1,464,189   

5,626,457   

 
Rent and other receivables are reported at their estimated net realizable value.  When necessary, the Company 
provides an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection 
information and existing economic conditions.  Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the 
receivables.  Rent and other receivables are written off based on individual credit evaluation and specific 
circumstances of the customer.  Management has concluded that all of the Company’s accounts receivable 
amounts will be realizable and, accordingly, has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 
2017 or 2016.  

Real Property 

Buildings are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 
39 years.  Land improvements and signage are depreciated using an accelerated method of depreciation over the 
useful life of the assets, usually 15 years.  

Depreciation on real property charged to operations was $290,983 and $303,749 for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

Repairs are charged against operations.  Renewals and betterments that materially extend the life of an asset are 
capitalized. 

The Company reviews the real property for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the real property may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of the real property is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the real property to undiscounted future net cash flows 
expected to be generated by the real property.  If the real property is considered to be impaired, the impairment 
to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the real property exceeds its fair 
value.  No impairment was recognized as of December 31, 2017. 
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Deferred Charges and Other Assets 

Deferred charges consist of lease commissions and lease costs, and are stated at cost net of accumulated 
amortization.  At December 31, 2017 and 2016, total deferred charges capitalized were $592,727 with 
accumulated amortization of $306,867 and $245,735, respectively.  The lease commissions and lease costs are 
amortized on the straight-line method over the terms of the respective leases.  Lease commission and lease costs 
amortization expense of $63,990 is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying statement of 
operations for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.   

Deferred charges and other assets also includes $34,069 and $33,224 of prepaid expenses at December 31, 2017 
and 2016, respectively. 

Income Taxes 

The Company is a limited liability company treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes.  
As a result, the Company’s results of operations are included in the income tax returns of its individual members.  
Accordingly, no provision for federal or state income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying financial 
statements. 

The Company follows applicable authoritative guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes which, 
among other things, prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement 
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return and provides 
guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods and disclosure. The 
Company has no uncertain tax positions.   

Use of Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

2 Debt 

The Company entered into a note payable agreement with First National Bank for borrowings in the maximum 
principal amount of $9,136,970 on September 18, 2012.  Cumulative amounts borrowed as of December 31, 2017 
and 2016 were $8,342,306 and $8,533,767, respectively.  The note is collateralized by a deed of trust on real 
property and assignment of rents.  The interest rate is variable at a rate equal to 3% per annum in excess of the 
five year Treasury Rate with a floor of 4.5%.  For the year ending December 31, 2016, the interest rate was 5.44%.  

On February 10, 2017, the Company refinanced the note with First National Bank for the entire outstanding 
balance on that date.  Under the amended terms, the interest rate is fixed at a rate equal to 3.50% per annum in 
excess of the Treasury Rate adjustable every five years.  The entire unpaid balance of principal and accrued unpaid 
interest owing on the note will be due and payable on February 10, 2039. For the year ending December 31, 2017, 
the interest rate was 5.44%. 

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company elected to adopt the provisions of Accounting 
Standards Update (ASU) 2015-03, “Interest – Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt 
Issuance Costs.”  This ASU required that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in 
the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability instead of separately being 
recorded in deferred charges and other assets.  In accordance with this presentation, the net deferred loan cost 
balance as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 of $52,792 and $39,751, respectively, is presented as a reduction of the 
related debt liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets. 
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Notes payable consists of the following at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively: 

December 31 2017 2016
$ $

Principal Balance 8,342,306             8,533,767             
Less unamortized deferred loan costs 52,792                  39,751                  
Notes payable less unamortized deferred loan costs 8,289,514             8,494,016             

 
Loan costs consist of various debt issuance costs and are amortized on the straight-line method, which 
approximates the effective interest method, based on terms of the respective debt agreements.  The Company’s 
loan costs total $151,749 and $136,290 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, with accumulated 
amortization totaling $98,957 and $96,539 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Loan cost 
amortization expense of $2,419 and $22,715 is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying 
statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  

Interest incurred related to the above loans totaled $461,430 and $416,133 for the years ended December 31, 2017 
and 2016, respectively. 

Scheduled principal payments on the note payable are as follows: 

 
Amount

$
2018 214,191      
2019 226,308      

2020 237,872      
2021 252,567      
2022 266,855      
Thereafter 7,144,513   

8,342,306   
 

3 Leases 

The Company subleases the Project land from Sooner Town Center, LLC (STC), a related party, which leases the 
land from the City.  The lease commenced on July 19, 2012, with rent commencement on October 31, 2012.  The 
lease expires on October 31, 2062, with a five-year renewal option.  The monthly rent amount increases by 10% 
on the 10th anniversary of the commencement date, and every five years thereafter. 

Straight-line rental expense totaled $65,609 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.  Unpaid rent 
expense related to this lease totaled $82,436 and $61,827 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and is 
included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the accompanying balance sheet. 

Future minimum rent payments for the original term are as follows: 
Amount

$
2018 45,000        
2019 45,000        

2020 45,000        
2021 45,000        
2022 45,750        
Thereafter 2,822,132   

3,047,882   
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The Company also has a ground lease with the Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority, an affiliated entity, 
which provides for participation rent equivalent to 50% of net cash flows as defined measured on a cumulative 
basis.  Rent commenced on October 31, 2012 under this lease, which expires on October 31, 2062, with a 
five-year renewal option.  In addition to participation rent, starting one year after the commencement date, annual 
rent will be $1.  Participation rent is due and payable only to the extent that cumulative net cash flows are 
positive. Rent expense under this lease is $64,207 and $78,355 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively.   

4 Related-party Transactions and Balances 

Collett Management, LLC (Collett), an affiliated entity, provides leasing, development and brokerage services to 
the Company.  The Company paid nominal amounts for various expense reimbursements to Collett for the years 
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.  Property management fees totaling $49,105 and $52,707 were paid to 
Collett for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

John S. Cheek, Inc. (Cheek), an affiliated entity, provides tax and accounting services to the Company.  The 
Company paid $12,685 and $1,400 in fees to Cheek for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively.   

The Company leases land from the City (see Note 3).  Utility expenses paid to the City totaled $14,307 and 
$12,880 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  

Certain members guarantee the note payable.  

5 Subsequent Events 

The Company has analyzed its operations subsequent to December 31, 2017 through ___________, the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued.   

 



Sooner Town Center II, LLC  

 

Supplementary information 
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Schedule I – Net operating income 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Rental revenues per audited financial statements 1,236,856           1,236,853           
Adjustments to cash basis: 

Rent & CAM receivable (2,704)                42,447               
Deferred rent receivable (5,236)                (5,236)                
Unearned rent (1,299)                (68,181)              

Gross operating revenue (cash basis) 1,227,617           1,205,883           
Total operating expenses 849,593              908,664              
Adjustments for noncash expenses and expenses funded with loan proceeds:
Depreciation and amortization (357,392)             (390,454)             
Participation rent, accrued or paid (64,207)              (78,355)              
Operating expenses 427,994              439,855              
Net operating income 799,623              766,028              
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Schedule II – Debt service 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Debt service:
Interest expense per audited financial statements 461,430                 416,133                 
Principal payments and loan costs 209,780                 193,185                 
          Total debt service 671,210                 609,318                 
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Schedule III – Net cash flow 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Net operating income 799,623               766,028               
Less - Debt service (671,210)              (609,318)              
Net cash flow, current year 128,413               156,710               
Less - Cash Reserve -                          -                          
Net cash flow, after reserves 128,413               156,710               

Participation rent factor 50% 50%
Participation rent (minimum of $0) 64,207                 78,355                 
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Schedule IV – Subtenant rents 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Tenant rents 1,227,617           1,205,883           
          Total rents (cash basis) 1,227,617           1,205,883           

 
 

 



 

 

      

 DISCUSSION ITEMS 



J. Guy Henson, General Manager/Administrator 
Trustees: Matthew D. Dukes II, Susan Eads, Pat Byrne, Españiola Bowen, Sean Reed, Christine Allen, and Jeff Moore 

Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority 
100 North Midwest Boulevard 
Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
Office (405) 739-1207/Fax (405) 739-1208 
www.midwestcityok.org   

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

To:   Honorable Chairman and Trustees 
 
From:   Sara Hancock, Secretary 
 
Date:                September 11, 2018 
 
Subject:  Discussion and consideration of action to reallocate assets, change fund managers or 

make changes in the Statement of Investment Policy, Guidelines and Objectives.   
 
 
 
Jim Garrels, President, Fiduciary Capital Advisors, asked staff to put this item on each agenda in the 
event the Hospital Authority’s investments need to be reallocated, an investment fund manager needs to 
be changed or changes need to be made to the Statement of Investment Policy on short notice. 
 
Action is at the discretion of the Authority. 
 
 
 
__________________ 
Sara Hancock, Secretary 



 

 

      

 
NEW BUSINESS/                    

PUBLIC DISCUSSION 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

SPECIAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY AGENDA 

 

The 7:00 PM meetings will be shown live on Channel 20.  
 

The recorded video will be available on Youtube and the City’s website within 
 48 hours at www.youtube@midwestcityok.org.  

 

The meeting minutes and video can be found on the City’s website in the Agenda 
 Center: https://midwestcityok.org/AgendaCenter. 

 

To make a special assistance request, call 739-1215 or email 
 pmenefee@midwestcityok.org no less than 24 hours prior to the start of a 
 meeting. If special assistance is needed during a meeting, call 739-1388.  

https://midwestcityok.org/AgendaCenter


 
MIDWEST CITY SPECIAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AGENDA 

City Hall - Midwest City Council Chambers, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard 
 

September 11, 2018 - 7:02 PM 
 

A. Call to Order. 

B.    Consent Agenda. These items are placed on the Consent Agenda so that the Trustees, by unanimous consent, can 
 approve routine agenda items by one motion. If any item proposed does not meet with approval of all Trustees, or 
 members of the audience wish to discuss an item, it will be removed and heard in regular order. 
 

1. Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the staff briefing, and special meeting 
of August 14, 2018, as submitted. (City Clerk -  S. Hancock)  

2. Discussion and consideration of approving the management representation letter to Grant 
Thornton LLP and accepting the associated Combined Financial Statements of Sooner Town 
Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC and Sooner Town Center II, LLC for calendar years ending 
December 31, 2016 and 2017.  (G. Henson - City Manager) 
 

C.  New Business/Public Discussion. 

 

 



 

 

      

 CONSENT AGENDA 



A notice for this special Midwest City Economic Development Authority meeting was filed with the City 
Clerk of Midwest City 48 hours prior to the meeting. Public notice of this agenda was accessible at least 
24 hours before this meeting at City Hall and on the Midwest City website (www.midwestcityok.org). 

 
 
 

Midwest City Economic Development Authority Staff Briefing Special Meeting Minutes 
 

August 14, 2018 – 6:00 PM 
 
This meeting was held in the Midwest City Council Conference room, second floor, in City Hall, 
100 N. Midwest Boulevard, Midwest City, County of Oklahoma, State of Oklahoma. 
 
Chairman Matt Dukes called the meeting to order at 6:56 PM with the following members 
present: Trustees Susan Eads, Pat Byrne, Españiola Bowen, Sean Reed, Christine Allen, and Jeff 
Moore; and Secretary Sara Hancock. Absent: none. 
 
Discussion Items. 
 
Clarification of agenda items, handouts, and presentation of new or additional information 

for items on the Special Economic Development Authority for August 14, 2018. The 
Trustees had no questions or comments for staff on the agenda items.  
 
There being no further business, Chairman Dukes adjourned the meeting at 6:56 PM. 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
          __________________________________ 
          MATTHEW D. DUKES, II, CHAIRMAN 
 
 
____________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, SECRETARY 



A notice for this special Midwest City Economic Development Authority meeting was filed with the 
City Clerk of Midwest City 48 hours prior to the meeting. Public notice of this agenda was accessible 

at least 24 hours before this meeting at City Hall and on the Midwest City website 
(www.midwestcityok.org). 

 
 

Midwest City Economic Development Authority Special Meeting Minutes 
 

August 14, 2018 – 7:03 PM 
 
This meeting was held in the Midwest City Council Chambers, in City Hall, 100 N. Midwest 
Boulevard, Midwest City, County of Oklahoma, State of Oklahoma. Chairman Matt Dukes called the 
meeting to order at 8:01 PM with the following members present: Trustees: Pat Byrne, Susan Eads, 
Españiola Bowen, Sean Reed, Christine Allen, and Jeff Moore; and Secretary Sara Hancock. Absent: 
none. 

 
DISCUSSION ITEMS. 

 
1.   Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the staff briefing and special 

meeting of June 12, 2018, as submitted. Eads made a motion to approve the minutes, as 
submitted, seconded by Bowen. Voting aye: Eads, Byrne, Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and 
Chairman Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion carried.  

 

2. Discussion and consideration of entering into a contract with the Center for Economic 

Development Law for professional services to evaluate the possibility of establishing a Tax 

Increment Finance District in support of the proposed Midwest Village development, in an 

amount not to exceed $40,750. No action was taken.  
 

3. Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into engagement letters with Grant 

Thornton, LLP to perform GAAP audits for the calendar year ending December 31, 2017 for 

1) Sooner Town Center (STC), LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC in an amount not to exceed 

$45,300; and 2) STC II, LLC in an amount not to exceed $26,250; and 3) authorizing the city 

manager to act on behalf of the Authority during the audits to provide information, oversee 

the audit process and make determinations as required. Eads made a motion to approve and 
enter into the engagement letters, as submitted, seconded by Byrne. Voting aye: Eads, Byrne, 
Bowen, Reed, Allen, Moore, and Chairman Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: none. Motion carried. 

 
NEW BUSINESS/PUBLIC DISCUSSION. There was no new business or public discussion.  
 

ADJOURNMENT. There being no further business, Chairman Dukes adjourned the meeting at 8:02 PM. 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 

 

MATTHEW D. DUKES, II, CHAIRMAN 
 
 
 
SARA HANCOCK, SECRETARY 



 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
 
TO:  Economic Development Authority Chairman and Trustees 
 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, City Manager 
 
DATE:  September 11, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving the management representation letter to 

Grant Thornton LLP and accepting the associated Combined Financial Statements of 
Sooner Town Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC and Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
for calendar years ending December 31, 2016 and 2017 

 
 
Attached for your review and approval are the management representation letters and financial 
statements for calendar years 2016 and 2017. 

 
J. Guy Henson 
City Manager 
 
Attachments 
 



Sooner Town Center, LLC 
1111 Metropolitan Avenue #700, Charlotte NC 28204 

 
 

 

 

September 11, 2018  

 

Grant Thornton LLP 
201 S. College St., Suite 2500 
Charlotte, NC 28244 
 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

We are providing this letter in connection with your audits of the combined consolidated financial statements 
of Sooner Town Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC (collectively referred to as “Sooner Town Center” or  
the “Entity”), which comprise the combined consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 
and the related combined consolidated statements of operations, change in members’ deficit, and cash flows 
for the years then ended, and the related notes to the combined consolidated financial statements. We 
understand that your audits were made for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the combined 
consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”).  

We have fulfilled our responsibility, as set out in the terms of the Engagement Letter, for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the combined consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. We 
acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud, including programs and controls to prevent and detect fraud.  

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are 
considered to be material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting 
information that, in light of the surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a 
reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or 
misstatement. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary 
for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves, as of September 11, 2018, the following representations 
made to you during your audits. 

1. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the combined consolidated 
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud. We have no knowledge of fraud or 
suspected fraud affecting the Entity involving:  
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a. Management 
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or  
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the combined consolidated financial 

statements. 

2. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Entity’s combined 
consolidated financial statements received in communications from employees, former employees, 
analysts, regulators, short sellers, or others.  

3. There are no known violations or possible violations of, or no known instances of noncompliance or 
suspected noncompliance with, laws and regulations whose effects should be considered by management 
when preparing the combined consolidated financial statements, as a basis for recording a loss 
contingency or for disclosure.  

4. The Entity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on 
the combined consolidated financial statements in the event of a noncompliance.  

5. The Entity has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of 
assets and liabilities.  

6. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Entity’s related parties and all related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware. Related party relationships and transactions and related amounts 
receivable from or payable to related parties (including sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing 
arrangements, and guarantees) have been properly accounted for and disclosed in the combined 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP.   

We understand that “related parties” include (1) affiliates of the Entity; (2) entities for which investments 
in their equity securities would be required to be accounted for by the equity method by the investing 
entity; (3) trusts for the benefit of employees, such as pension and profit-sharing trusts that are managed 
by or under the trusteeship of management; (4) principal owners of the Entity and members of their 
immediate families; and (5) management of the Entity and members of their immediate families.  

Related parties also include (1) other parties with which the Entity may deal if one party controls or can 
significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to an extent that one of the 
transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests; and (2) other parties 
that can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the transacting parties or that 
have an ownership interest in one of the transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an 
extent that one or more of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own 
separate interests. 

7. There are no known actual or possible litigation, claims, or assessments that our legal counsel has advised 
us are probable of assertion whose effects should be considered by management when preparing the 
combined consolidated financial statements and that should be accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with US GAAP (FASB Accounting Standards Codification® (ASC) 450, Contingencies). 
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8. The calculation of participation rent for the year ended December 31, 2017 as determined in the 
supplementary schedules of net operating income, debt service, net cash flow, and subtenant rents are 
prepared in compliance with the terms as defined in the Midwest City Downtown Redevelopment 
General Ground Lease (the Agreement). We have read the supplementary schedules and believe the 
information presented is consistent with and accurately reflects the provisions contained in the 
Agreement. 

9. We believe the information included in the Leases footnote to the combined financial statements, which 
describes the participation rent calculation, is consistent with our understanding of the agreement. 

10. We believe the rent expense incurred totaled $ 1,300,150 for the year ended December 31, 2017 and is 
properly recorded in the combined consolidated statement of operations. 

11. Excluding the rent expense amount included in the promissory note, amounts due to Midwest City 
Memorial Hospital Authority for rent have been properly calculated and accrued in accordance with the 
terms of the Entity’s Agreements with the City at $419,094 as of December 31, 2017. 

12. The members of the Sooner Town Center, LLC and Sooner Town Center III, LLC (“STC III”) assigned 
their interests in STC III to Sooner Town Center, LLC as of December 31, 2017. The combined 
consolidated financial statements represent the consolidated results of Sooner Town Center, LLC and 
STC III combined with the results of STC Lowe’s, LLC. 

13. On February 28, 2018, the Entity and STC III jointly entered into a loan agreement for a total amount of 
$49,155,000.  The proceeds from the new financing were used to repay the previous debt. The loan 
agreement has a thirty-year term and an effective interest rate of 4.94%.  

14. No events have occurred subsequent to the date of the combined consolidated financial statements 
through the date of this letter that would require, in accordance with US GAAP, recognition or 
disclosure in the combined consolidated financial statements. 
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Very truly yours, 

 

SOONER TOWN CENTER, LLC 

__________________________________________ 
Robert C. Collett 
Managing Member 
 

__________________________________________ 
John Cheek 
Consultant to Collett as an agent for Sooner Town Center, LLC 
 

__________________________________________ 
Kemp Woollen  
Chief Financial Officer of Collett as an agent for Sooner Town Center, LLC 
 
 
MIDWEST CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Chairman 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

To the Members of 
Sooner Town Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC: 

We have audited the accompanying combined consolidated financial statements of Sooner 
Town Center, LLC (an Oklahoma limited liability company) and STC Lowe’s, LLC (an 
Oklahoma limited liability company), which comprise the combined consolidated balance sheets 
as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related combined consolidated statements of 
operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related 
notes to the combined consolidated financial statements. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these combined 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of combined consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these combined consolidated financial statements 
based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the combined consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
combined consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the combined consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the combined consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion  
In our opinion, the combined consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of Sooner Town Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, 
LLC as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Supplementary information 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the combined consolidated 
financial statements as a whole. The combining information included in Schedules I and II on 
pages 14, 15 and 16 is presented for purposes of additional analysis, rather than to present the 
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of the individual entities, and is not a 
required part of the combined consolidated financial statements. The other supplementary 
information included in Schedules III through VI is presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and is not a required part of the combined consolidated financial statements. Such supplementary 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the combined consolidated financial 
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits 
of the combined consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures. These 
additional procedures included comparing and reconciling the information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the combined consolidated financial 
statements or to the combined consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. In our opinion, the combining and other supplementary information is fairly stated, in 
all material respects, in relation to the combined consolidated financial statements as a whole.  

Charlotte, North Carolina  
Date  
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Combined consolidated balance sheets 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined consolidated financial statements. 

December 31 2017 2016
$ $

Assets
Real property, at cost:

Buildings and building improvements 31,128,589     31,128,589     
Land improvements and signage 13,217,019     13,217,019     

44,345,608     44,345,608     
Less – Accumulated depreciation (17,820,884)    (16,225,831)    

Real property, net 26,524,724     28,119,777     
Other assets:
Cash 549,601          501,214          
Restricted cash 998                 998                 
Accounts receivable 243,515          306,384          
Notes receivable 328,818          268,818          
Security deposit trust account 53,286            45,697            
Deferred rent receivable 651,949          669,724          
Deferred charges and other assets, net 1,149,048       1,255,655       

Total assets 29,501,939     31,168,267     
Liabilities and members’ deficit
Liabilities:
Unearned rent 121,122          60,859            

Notes payable net of deferred loan costs ($51,880 at December 31, 2017, and $84,073 at
   December 31, 2016) 40,010,959     42,996,062     
Notes payable - Short term 2,000,000       -                      
Note payable to members and affiliates 329,818          269,818          
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 848,302          665,404          
Security deposits 53,286            45,697            

Total liabilities 43,363,487     44,037,840     
Members’ deficit (13,861,548)    (12,869,573)    

Total liabilities and members' deficit 29,501,939     31,168,267     
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Combined consolidated balance sheets 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined consolidated financial statements. 

 
For the years ended December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Rental revenues 7,140,393     7,094,912     
Operating expenses:
Common area maintenance 609,017        652,712        
General and administrative expenses 1,072,339     780,589        
Rent expense 1,252,898     1,415,253     
Property management fees 268,222        262,550        

Depreciation and amortization 1,933,356     1,953,125     
Total operating expenses 5,135,832     5,064,229     

Interest expense 2,481,733     2,527,178     
Net loss (477,172)       (496,495)       
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Combined consolidated statements of changes 
in members’ deficit 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined consolidated financial statements. 

Total Members' 
Deficit

$
Members' deficit, December 31, 2015 (11,779,078)                 
Net loss (496,495)                      
Distributions (594,000)                      
Members' deficit, December 31, 2016 (12,869,573)                 
Net loss (477,172)                      
Distributions (514,803)                      
Members' deficit, December 31, 2017 (13,861,548)                 

 
 



Sooner Town Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC 2 

Combined consolidated statements of cash 
flows 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined consolidated financial statements. 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016
 $  $ 

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (477,172)       (496,495)       
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 1,595,053     1,601,491     
Amortization 338,303        351,634        
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 9,381            8,161            
Note receivable from related party (60,000)         -                
Deferred rent receivable 17,775          10,819          
Deferred charges and other assets (117,678)       (185,256)       
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 182,898        (377)              
Unearned rent 60,263          6,455            

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,548,823     1,296,432     
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on note payable (3,017,296)    (980,987)       
Cash paid for deferred financing costs (81,825)         -                    
Short term borrow ings on note payable 2,113,488     -                    
Member distributions (514,803)       (594,000)       

Net cash used in financing activities (1,500,436)    (1,574,987)    
Net increase(decrease) in cash 48,387          (278,555)       
Cash, beginning of year 501,214        779,769        
Cash, end of year 549,601        501,214        
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest 2,489,745     2,535,168     
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Notes to combined consolidated financial 
statements 

 

1 Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies 
Organization 

Sooner Town Center, LLC (an Oklahoma limited liability company) (STC) was organized in June 2002 for the 
purpose of acquiring, developing and leasing commercial properties in Oklahoma.  STC develops and operates a 
retail center (the Project) located in Midwest City, Oklahoma (the City).  The Project is defined by a 
redevelopment agreement between the City and STC as authorized by the Oklahoma Local Development Act.  
Under the terms of the agreement, the City leases the Project land to STC under two ground leases.  The City is 
considered to be a related party for financial reporting purposes.  STC is responsible for the design, construction, 
financing, leasing and management of the Project, all subject to City approval.  Income and loss will be allocated 
to members in accordance with the operating agreement. 

In September 2007, STC distributed its interest in the portion of the Project leased to Lowe’s to a related party 
under common control, STC Lowe’s, LLC (STC Lowe’s). 

On December 31, 2017, the interests of Sooner Town Center III, LLC (STC III) were contributed to STC. STC 
III is in the same business and geography as STC. The STC III interests contributed were under common control 
as STC and were recorded at historical costs at the date of the transfer. Accordingly, the financial statements of 
the Company include the activity and operations of STC III from January 1, 2016 through the date of the transfer. 

Basis of Combination 

The accompanying combined consolidated financial statements include the operations of STC and STC Lowe’s 
(collectively referred to as the Company).  All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been 
eliminated in combination. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company classifies highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of three months or less as cash 
equivalents. 

Restricted Cash 

Restricted cash includes $998 in amounts for utility deposits as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.  

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company’s operating property is located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Company’s ability to generate 
future revenues is dependent upon the economic conditions within this area. 

The Company’s tenants engage in a wide variety of businesses.  One tenant accounted for 11% of total revenue 
for the year ended December 31, 2017.  One tenant accounted for 11% of total revenue for the year ended 
December 31, 2016.  No single tenant accounted for more than 10% of accounts receivable as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016. 

The Company maintains its cash in a commercial bank.  Substantially all of the Company’s cash and cash 
equivalents are held in noninterest-bearing accounts.  Regularly during the year, the Company maintained cash 
and cash equivalents in accounts in excess of the amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  
The Company’s management regularly monitors the financial stability of these financial institutions. 
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Revenue Recognition 

Rental revenue is generally recognized based on the terms of leases entered into with tenants.  Rental revenue 
from leases with scheduled rent increases, incentives or abatements is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
noncancelable term of the respective leases.  Property operating cost recoveries from tenants for common area 
maintenance, real estate taxes and other recoverable costs totaled $1,169,926 and $1,195,061 for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, are recognized in the period in which the related expenses are 
incurred, and are included in rental revenues in the accompanying combined consolidated statements of 
operations.  Receivables relating to these recoveries totaled $239,887 and $249,267 as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016, respectively, and are recognized as accounts receivable on the accompanying combined consolidated 
balance sheets.  Interest income is recognized as it is earned.  If it becomes probable a tenant will fail to perform 
according to the terms of the lease, a loss equal to the accrued rental revenue unlikely to be received from that 
tenant would be charged to operations. 

Rental revenue received in advance from tenants is recognized as unearned rent on the accompanying combined 
consolidated balance sheets.  Unearned rent as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $121,122 and $60,859, 
respectively.   

Rental revenue recognized on a straight-line basis over rents due amounted to $17,775 and $10,819 for the years 
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  The aggregate excess of rental revenue recognized on a 
straight-line basis over rents due in accordance with the provisions of the leases was $651,949 and $669,724 at 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

The Project consists of 627,117 square feet of retail space and 13 outparcel sites and was completed in 2015.  At 
December 31, 2017, tenants occupying 622,603 square feet and 13 of the outparcel sites were operating under 
noncancelable leases providing for future minimum rents of $37,627,521. 

Future minimum rents receivable under noncancelable leases for all known tenants at December 31, 2017, are as 
follows.  Most leases have renewal options, which are not included below. 

Amount
$

2018 5,618,623     
2019 5,351,686     

2020 5,136,962     
2021 4,653,339     
2022 3,648,824     
Thereafter 13,218,087   

37,627,521   
 

Rent and other receivables are reported at their estimated net realizable value.  When necessary, the Company 
provides an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection 
information and existing economic conditions.  Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the 
receivables.  Rent and other receivables are written off based on individual credit evaluation and specific 
circumstances of the customer.  Management has concluded that all of the Company’s accounts receivable 
amounts will be realizable and, accordingly, has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 
2017 and 2016. 

Real Property 

Buildings and building improvements are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful life of 39 years.  Land improvements and signage are depreciated using an accelerated method of 
depreciation over the useful life of the assets, usually 15 years.  Direct and indirect costs that relate to land 
development and building construction are capitalized.  Costs are allocated to Project components by the specific 
identification method whenever possible.  Otherwise, costs are allocated based on square footage or acreage.   
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Depreciation on real property charged to operations was $1,595,053 and $1,601,491 for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

Repairs are charged against operations.  Renewals and betterments that materially extend the life of an asset are 
capitalized. 

The Company reviews the real property for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the real property may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of the real property is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the real property to undiscounted future net cash flows 
expected to be generated by the real property.  If the real property is considered to be impaired, the impairment 
to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the real property exceeds its fair 
value.  No impairment was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

Deferred Charges and Other Assets 

Deferred charges consist of lease commissions and lease costs, and are stated at cost net of accumulated 
amortization.  At December 31, 2017 and 2016, total deferred charges capitalized were $4,069,642 and $3,949,158, 
respectively, with accumulated amortization of $3,045,779 and $2,821,494, respectively.  The lease commissions 
and lease costs are amortized on the straight-line method over the terms of the respective leases.  Lease 
commission and lease costs amortization expense of $224,285 and $250,517 is included in depreciation and 
amortization in the accompanying combined consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 
31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.   

Deferred charges and other assets also include $125,185 and $127,991 of prepaid expenses at December 31, 2017 
and 2016, respectively. 

Income Taxes 

The Company is a limited liability company treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes.  
As a result, the Company’s results of operations are included in the income tax returns of its individual members.  
Accordingly, no provision for federal or state income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying combined 
consolidated financial statements. 

The Company follows applicable authoritative guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes which, 
among other things, prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement 
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, and provides 
guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods and disclosure.  The 
Company has no uncertain tax positions. 

Use of Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

2 Note Payable 

The Company entered into a note payable agreement with 40|86 Mortgage Capital for borrowings in the principal 
amount of $44,760,000 on January 4, 2007.  The note is collateralized by a deed of trust on real property and 
assignment of rents.  The interest rate for the term of the loan is fixed at an annual rate of 6.03%.  Principal and 
interest are payable in monthly installments of $269,223 through November 1, 2017, when all remaining principal 
and interest was originally due.  
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In November 2017, the Company negotiated an extension on the note maturity date to March 1, 2018, with an 
option to further extend to May 1, 2018 (Final Maturity Date) at which time unpaid principal and interest must be 
paid in full.  The extension agreement requires, among other things, a one-time principal reduction in the amount 
of $2,000,000, paid in November 2017, and continuation of scheduled monthly payments of $269,223 through 
the Final Maturity Date.  The remaining note balance and accrued interest may be paid at any time during the 
extension period without penalty.  Exercise of the extension option to May 1, 2018 requires the payment of an 
extension fee equal to one percent of the unpaid note principal balance. 

The City, through a public trust, loaned the $2,000,000 additional principal reduction payment to the Company.  
The loan bears interest at 4.5% with principal and accrued interest payable in full on May 1, 2018.  The members 
of the Company secured the loan with a pledge of their membership interests. 

The Company entered into a note payable agreement with Midwest City Hospital Authority for borrowings in the 
maximum principal amount of $3,400,000 on July 2, 2014.  Total amounts drawn on this loan as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016, were $2,821,969 and $3,003,597, respectively.  The note is collateralized by a deed of trust on real 
property and assignment of rents.  The interest rate on this note is 2.57%.  Installments of principal and interest 
on the total amount disbursed under the note are paid monthly.  The agreement states that such payments were to 
begin 30 days following the commencement date of the initial tenant, which occurred in December 2014.  The 
entire unpaid balance of principal and accrued unpaid interest owed on the note was originally due and payable on 
November 1, 2017.  On November 15, 2017, the Company and Midwest City Hospital Authority modified the 
original note payable agreement dated July 2, 2014.  The note was amended to extend the original maturity date 
until June 1, 2018.  The interest rate on this note was amended to 4.5%.  

On February 28, 2018, the Company entered into a loan agreement for a total amount of $49,155,000.  The 
proceeds from the new financing were used to repay the previous debt.  The loan agreement has a 30-year term 
and an effective interest rate of 4.94%.   

Notes payable consists of the following at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively: 

December 31 2017 2016
$ $

Principal balance 40,062,839         43,080,135         
Less unamortized deferred loan costs 51,880                84,073                
Notes payable less unamortized deferred loan costs 40,010,959         42,996,062         

 
Loan costs consist of various debt issuance costs and are amortized on the straight-line method, which 
approximates the effective interest method, based on terms of the respective debt agreements. The Company’s 
loan costs total $841,596 and $759,771 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, with accumulated 
amortization totaling $789,716 and $675,698 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Loan cost 
amortization expense of $114,018 and $101,117 is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying 
combined consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

Interest incurred related to the above notes totaled $2,481,733 and $2,527,178 for the years ended December 31, 
2017 and 2016, respectively.  These amounts are include in the Interest Expense line item on the accompanying 
combined consolidated statements of operations.   
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Scheduled principal payments on the notes payable amounts are as follows:  
Amount

$
2018 40,062,839 

40,062,839 
 

3 Leases 

Sooner Town Center, LLC leases the Project land from the City under two ground leases, designated anchor and 
general.  Sooner Town Center III does not have any leases under such obligations.  Both Sooner Town Center, 
LLC leases have terms commencing on June 1, 2004, with rent commencement on February 12, 2006, and 
expiring on October 31, 2062.  Subsequent to rent commencement, the anchor ground lease rent is $510,000 
annually.  The general ground lease provides for three tiers of rent – general ground rent of $1 per year, preferred 
rent of $305,000 annually, payable to the extent of net operating income in excess of debt service as defined in the 
redevelopment agreement, and participation rent equivalent to 50% of net operating income in excess of debt 
service remaining after payment of preferred rent.  Preferred rent is cumulative after the Project is 50% leased.  
To the extent that calculated preferred rent payable is less than $305,000, the difference is accrued and is payable 
when future net operating income in excess of debt service is sufficient.  Participation rent expense totaled 
$366,182 and $528,536 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  Total rental expense 
totaled $1,300,150 and $1,415,253 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  Excluding the 
rent expense amount included in the note payable to the City, rent expense incurred and unpaid totaled $203,568 
and $304,937 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and is included in accounts payable and accrued 
expenses on the accompanying combined consolidated balance sheets.  

4 Related-party Transactions and Balances 

Collett Management, LLC (Collett), an affiliated property management company, provides management and 
brokerage services to the Company.  Collett receives a monthly fee of 4% of gross monthly collections, net of 
anchor ground lease rent, for providing property management services.  Such fees totaled $268,211 and $262,550 
for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  Additionally, tenant security deposits are held in a 
trust account maintained by Collett, consistent with industry practice and regulatory requirements.  Amounts due 
under this arrangement are recognized as security deposit trust account and totaled $53,286 and $45,697 as of 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  The Company paid nominal amounts for various expense 
reimbursements to Collett for both years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

Sooner Investment Realty (SIR), an affiliated entity, provides leasing services to the Company.  The Company 
paid $120,484 and $178,233 in leasing commissions to SIR for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively.   

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company has recorded $1,000 in a related-party note payable. 

The Company paid approximately $35,403 and $30,619 in utilities expense to the City for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.    

The Company subleases part of the Project land to Sooner Town Center II, LLC (STC II), a related party.  The 
lease commenced on July 19, 2012, with rent commencement on October 31, 2012.  The lease expires on 
October 31, 2062, with a five-year renewal option.  Annual rent for the first 10 years is $45,000.  The monthly 
rent amount increases by 10% on the 10th anniversary of the commencement date, and every five years thereafter.  
Straight-line rental income for this lease totaled $65,609 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.  These 
amounts are included in the future minimum rents receivable schedule included in Note 1, on page 8. 
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5 Subsequent Events 

The Company has analyzed its operations subsequent to December 31, 2017 through                    , the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued.    

 



 

 

Supplementary information 
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Schedule I - Combining balance sheets  

 

December 31, 2017
Sooner Town 
Center, LLC

Sooner Town 
Center III

STC Lowe's, 
LLC Eliminations Combined

$ $ $ $
Assets
Real property, at cost:
Buildings and building improvements 28,433,088       2,695,501             -                      -                  31,128,589    
Land improvements and signage 12,230,038       715,217                271,764          -                  13,217,019    

40,663,126       3,410,718             271,764          -                  44,345,608    
Less – Accumulated depreciation (17,156,981)      (407,227)               (256,676)         -                  (17,820,884)  

Real property, net 23,506,145       3,003,491             15,088            -                  26,524,724    
Other assets:
Cash 534,347            15,254                  -                      -                  549,601         
Restricted cash 998                   -                        -                      -                  998                
Accounts receivable 273,784            23,219                  395,595          (449,083)     243,515         
Note receivable from related party 328,818            -                        -                      -                  328,818         
Security deposit trust account 53,286              -                        -                      -                  53,286           
Deferred rent receivable 640,474            11,475                  -                      -                  651,949         
Deferred charges and other assets, net 946,752            56,322                  145,974          -                  1,149,048      
          Total Assets 26,284,604       3,109,761             556,657          (449,083)     29,501,939    

Liabilities and members’ deficit
Liabilities:
Unearned revenue 121,122            -                            -                      -                  121,122         
Notes payable 37,188,990       2,821,969             -                      -                  40,010,959    
Note payable - short term 2,000,000         -                        -                      -                  2,000,000      
Note payable to members and aff iliates 396,595            382,306                -                      (449,083)     329,818         
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 751,462            96,840                  -                      848,302         
Security deposits 53,286              -                        -                      -                  53,286           

Total liabilities 40,511,455       3,301,115             -                      (449,083)     43,363,487    
Members’ (deficit) equity (14,226,851)      (191,354)               556,657          -                  (13,861,548)  
           Total liabilities and members' deficit 26,284,604       3,109,761             556,657          (449,083)     29,501,939    
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Schedule I - Combining balance sheets (cont’d) 

 

December 31, 2016
Sooner Tow n 

Center, LLC
Sooner Town 

Center III
STC Lowe's, 

LLC Eliminations Combined
$ $ $ $

Assets
Real property, at cost:
Buildings and building improvements 28,433,088     2,695,501        -                     -                    31,128,589    
Land improvements and signage 12,230,038     715,217           271,764          -                    13,217,019    

40,663,126     3,410,718        271,764          -                    44,345,608    
Less – Accumulated depreciation (15,705,063)    (280,188)          (240,580)        -                    (16,225,831)  

Real property, net 24,958,063     3,130,530        31,184            -                    28,119,777    
Other assets:
Cash 501,214          -                   -                     -                    501,214         
Restricted cash 998                 -                   -                     -                    998                
Accounts receivable 280,960          25,424             358,820          (358,820)       306,384         
Notes Receivable from related party 268,818          -                   -                     -                    268,818         
Security deposit trust account 45,697            -                   -                     -                    45,697           
Deferred rent receivable 662,276          7,448               -                     -                    669,724         
Deferred charges and other assets, net 1,008,593       82,047             165,015          -                    1,255,655      
          Total Assets 27,726,619     3,245,449        555,019          (358,820)       31,168,267    

Liabilities and members’ deficit
Liabilities:
Unearned revenue 37,972            22,887             -                     -                    60,859           
Notes payable 40,021,672     2,974,390        -                     -                    42,996,062    
Note payable to members and affiliates 359,820          268,818           -                     (358,820)       269,818         
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 506,322          159,082           -                     -                    665,404         
Security deposits 45,697            -                   -                     -                    45,697           

Total liabilities 40,971,483     3,425,177        -                     (358,820)       44,037,840    
Members’ (deficit) equity (13,244,864)    (179,728)          555,019          -                    (12,869,573)  
         Total liabilities and members' deficit 27,726,619     3,245,449        555,019          (358,820)       31,168,267    
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Schedule II - Combining statements of 
operations  

 

For the year ended December 31, 2017
Sooner Town 

Center, LLC
Sooner Town 

Center III
STC Lowe's, 

LLC Combined
$ $ $ $

Rental Revenues 6,131,599              454,140                554,654            7,140,393          
Operating expenses -                     
Common area maintenance 557,390                 51,627                  -                   609,017             
General and administrative expenses 999,149                 65,311                  7,879                1,072,339          
Rent expense 671,182                 71,716                  510,000            1,252,898          
Property management fees 250,129                 18,093                  -                   268,222             
Depreciation and amortization 1,722,439              175,780                35,137              1,933,356          
  Total operating expenses 4,200,289              382,527                553,016            5,135,832          
Interest expense 2,398,494              83,239                  -                   2,481,733          
Net loss (467,184)                (11,626)                1,638                (477,172)            

For the year ended December 31, 2016
Sooner Town 

Center, LLC
Sooner Town 

Center III
STC Lowe's, 

LLC Combined
$ $ $ $

Rental revenues 6,070,073              457,561                567,278            7,094,912          
Operating expenses:
Common area maintenance 598,479                 54,233                  -                   652,712             
General and administrative expenses 664,923                 109,238                6,428                780,589             
Rent expense 833,536                 71,717                  510,000            1,415,253          
Property management fees 243,777                 18,773                  -                   262,550             
Deprecation and amortization 1,730,085              188,000                35,040              1,953,125          
  Total operating expenses 4,070,800              441,961                551,468            5,064,229          
Interest expense 2,438,632              88,546                  -                   2,527,178          
Net loss (439,359)                (72,946)                15,810              (496,495)            
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Schedule III – Net operating income 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016
$ $

Rental revenues (per Schedule II) 6,686,253        6,637,351        
Less - Anchor ground lease revenue up to related expense (per Schedule II) (510,000)          (510,000)          

Rental revenues excluding anchor tenant 6,176,253        6,127,351        
Adjustments to cash basis: 

Deferred rent receivable 21,802             14,846             
Common area maintenance receivable 7,176               17,743             
Unearned rent 83,150             (4,078)              

Gross operating revenue (subtenant rents) 6,288,381        6,155,862        
Operating expenses:

Operating expenses (per Schedule II) 4,753,305        4,622,268        
Less - Anchor tenant rent expense (per Schedule II) (510,000)          (510,000)          
Plus - Additions to project development costs 120,484           178,470           

Operating expenses, net 4,363,789        4,290,738        
Adjustments for non-cash expenses:

Depreciation and amortization (per Schedule II) (1,757,576)       (1,765,125)       
Other adjustments:

Preferred rent, accrued or paid (305,000)          (305,000)          
Participation rent, accrued or paid (366,182)          (528,536)          

Operating expenses 1,935,031        1,692,077        
Net operating income 4,353,350        4,463,785        
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Schedule IV – Debt service 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016
$ $

Debt service:
Interest expense on debt (per Schedule II) 2,398,494     2,438,632     
Debt principal payments 835,667        788,080        
Loan modification expense 81,825          -                    
          Total debt service 3,315,986     3,226,712     
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Schedule V – Net cash flow 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016
$ $

Net operating income (per Schedule III) 4,353,350         4,463,785         
Less - debt service (3,315,986)        (3,226,712)        
Net cash flow 1,037,364         1,237,073         
Plus - reduction in cash reserve 125,000            
Less - preferred rent (305,000)           (305,000)           
Less - general ground lease (1)                      (1)                      
Net cash flow, after preferred rent and general ground lease 732,363            1,057,072         
Participation rent factor 50% 50%
Participation rent 366,182            528,536            
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Schedule VI – Subtenant rents 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016
$ $

Subtenant rents, excluding the anchor ground lease 6,731,980     6,469,889     
          Total subtenant rents (cash basis) 6,731,980     6,469,889     

 



Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
1111 Metropolitan Avenue #700, Charlotte NC 28204 

 
  

 

September 11, 2018 

 

Grant Thornton LLP 
201 S. College St., Suite 2500 
Charlotte, NC 28244 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

We are providing this letter in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Sooner Town Center 
II, LLC (the “Entity”), which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 2017and the related statements 
of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to 
the  financial statements. We understand that your audits were made for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”). 

We have fulfilled our responsibility, as set out in the terms of the Engagement Letter, for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. We acknowledge our 
responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to error or 
fraud, including programs and controls to prevent and detect fraud.  

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are 
considered to be material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting 
information that, in light of the surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a 
reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or 
misstatement. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary 
for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves, as of September 11, 2018, the following representations 
made to you during your audit.  

1. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud. We have no knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the 
Entity involving:  

a. Management 
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or  
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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2. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Entity’s financial 
statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short 
sellers, or others.  

3. There are no known violations or possible violations of, or no known instances of noncompliance or 
suspected noncompliance with, laws and regulations whose effects should be considered by management 
when preparing the financial statements, as a basis for recording a loss contingency or for disclosure.  

4. The Entity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on 
the financial statements in the event of a noncompliance.  

5. The Entity has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of 
assets and liabilities.  

6. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Entity’s related parties and all related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware. Related party relationships and transactions and related amounts 
receivable from or payable to related parties (including sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing 
arrangements, and guarantees) have been properly accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements 
in accordance with US GAAP.  

We understand that “related parties” include (1) affiliates of the Entity; (2) entities for which investments 
in their equity securities would be required to be accounted for by the equity method by the investing 
entity; (3) trusts for the benefit of employees, such as pension and profit-sharing trusts that are managed 
by or under the trusteeship of management; (4) principal owners of the Entity and members of their 
immediate families; and (5) management of the Entity and members of their immediate families.  

Related parties also include (1) other parties with which the Entity may deal if one party controls or can 
significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to an extent that one of the 
transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests; and (2) other parties 
that can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the transacting parties or that 
have an ownership interest in one of the transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an 
extent that one or more of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own 
separate interests. 

7. There are no known actual or possible litigation, claims, or assessments that our legal counsel has advised 
us are probable of assertion whose effects should be considered by management when preparing the 
financial statements and that should be accounted for and disclosed in accordance with US GAAP 
(FASB Accounting Standards Codification® (ASC) 450, Contingencies). 

8. The calculation of participation rent for the year ended December 31, 2017 as determined in the 
supplementary schedules of net operating income, debt service, net cash flow, and subtenant rents are 
prepared in compliance with the terms as defined in the Westside General Ground Lease (the 
Agreement). We have read the supplementary schedules and believe the information presented is 
consistent with and accurately reflects the provisions contained in the Agreement. 

9. We believe the information included in the Leases footnote to the financial statements, which describes 
the participation rent calculation, is consistent with our understanding of the agreement. 
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10. We believe that the rent expense for participation rent was $64,207 for the year ended December 31, 
2017. 

11. We believe that amounts due for participation rent are $82,436 as of December 31, 2017. 

12. No events have occurred subsequent to the date of the financial statements through the date of this letter 
that would require, in accordance with US GAAP, recognition or disclosure in the financial statements. 

Very truly yours, 

SOONER TOWN CENTER II, LLC 

 

__________________________________________ 
Robert Collett 
Managing Member 
 

__________________________________________ 
John Cheek 
Consultant to Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
 

__________________________________________  
Kemp Woollen 
Chief Financial Officer of Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
 
 
MIDWEST CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
 

__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Chairman 
 
 
 
MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPTIAL AUTHORITY 
 

__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Chairman 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

To the Members of 
Sooner Town Center II, LLC: 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
(an Oklahoma limited liability company), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016, and the related statements of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Sooner Town Center II, LLC as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Supplementary information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as 
a whole. The supplementary information presented in Schedules I through IV is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such 
supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. 
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements and certain additional procedures. These additional procedures included 
comparing and reconciling the information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole.  

Charlotte, North Carolina 
August 31, 2018 
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Balance sheets 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Assets
Real property, at cost:
Buildings 6,867,756           6,867,756           
Land improvements and signage 1,772,745           1,772,745           

8,640,501           8,640,501           

Less – Accumulated depreciation (1,618,331)          (1,327,348)          
Real property, net 7,022,170           7,313,153           

Other assets:
Cash 542,440              383,425              
Accounts receivable 44,334                41,630                
Deferred rent receivable 18,166                12,930                
Deferred charges and other assets, net 319,929              380,216              

Total assets 7,947,039           8,131,354           

Liabilities and members’ deficit
Liabilities:
Notes payable (net of deferred loan costs of $52,792 at 12/31/2017 and $39,751 at 12/31/2016)            8,289,514            8,494,016 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 387,330              232,290              
Unearned revenue 58,639                59,938                

Total liabilities 8,735,483           8,786,244           
Members’ deficit (788,444)             (654,890)             

Total liabilities and members' deficit 7,947,039           8,131,354           
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Statements of operations 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 
For the years ended December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Rental revenues 1,236,856           1,236,853           
Operating expenses:

Common area maintenance 71,293                81,195                

General and administrative expenses 291,097              293,051              

Rent expense 129,811              143,964              

Depreciation and amortization 357,392              390,454              

Total operating expenses 849,593              908,664              
Interest expense 461,430              416,133              
Net loss (74,167)               (87,944)               

 
 



Sooner Town Center II, LLC 5 

Statements of changes in members’ deficit 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Total Members' 
Deficit

$
Members' deficit, December 31, 2015 (520,988)                         

Net loss (87,944)                           

Distributions (45,958)                           
Members' deficit, December 31, 2016 (654,890)                         
Net loss (74,167)                           
Distributions (59,387)                           
Members' deficit, December 31, 2017 (788,444)                         
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Statements of cash flows 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

For the years ending December 31 2017 2016

 $  $ 
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (74,167)            (87,944)            
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 290,983            303,749            
Amortization 66,409             86,705             
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (2,704)              42,447             
Deferred rent receivable (5,236)              (5,236)              
Deferred charges and other assets (3,703)              (2,477)              
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 155,040            48,805             
Unearned revenue (1,299)              (68,181)            

Net cash provided by operating activities 425,323            317,868            
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on note payable (204,558)           (193,185)           
Cash paid for deferred loan costs (2,363)              -                   
Member distributions (59,387)            (45,958)            

Net cash used in financing activities (266,308)           (239,143)           
Net increase in cash 159,015            78,725             
Cash, beginning of year 383,425            304,700            
Cash, end of year 542,440            383,425            

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest 455,079            420,336            

Supplemental schedule of non-cash financing activities:
Deferred loan costs financed by debt borrowing              13,097                     -   
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Notes to financial statements 

 

1 Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies 
Organization 

Sooner Town Center II, LLC (an Oklahoma limited liability company) (the Company) was organized in 
January 2012 for the purpose of acquiring, developing and leasing commercial properties in Oklahoma.  The 
Company operates a retail center (the Project) located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Project is defined by a 
ground lease agreement between Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority, an affiliate of Midwest City, 
Oklahoma (collectively, the City) and the Company.  The City is considered to be a related party for financial 
reporting purposes.  The Company is responsible for design, construction, financing, leasing and management of 
the Project, all subject to City approval.  Income and loss will be allocated to members in accordance with the 
operating agreement. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company classifies highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of three months or less as cash 
equivalents. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company’s operating property is located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Company’s ability to generate 
future revenues is dependent upon the economic conditions within this area. 

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had three tenants.  Each tenant comprised more than 10% of 
total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.  One tenant comprised more than 10% of 
accounts receivable as of December 31, 2017, and two tenants comprised more than 10% of accounts receivable 
as of December 31, 2016. 

The Company maintains its cash in a commercial bank.  Regularly during the year, the Company maintained cash 
and cash equivalents in accounts in excess of the amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  
The Company’s management regularly monitors the financial stability of these financial institutions. 

Revenue Recognition 

Rental revenue is generally recognized based on the terms of leases entered into with tenants.  Rental revenue 
from leases with scheduled rent increases, incentives or abatements is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
non-cancelable term of the respective leases.  Property operating cost recoveries from tenants for common area 
maintenance, real estate taxes and other recoverable costs totaled $261,919 and $263,295 for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, are recognized in the period in which the related expenses are 
incurred, and are included in rental revenues in the accompanying statements of operations.  Receivables relating 
to these recoveries totaled $1,326 and $0 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are recognized as 
accounts receivable on the accompanying balance sheets.  If it becomes probable that a tenant will fail to perform 
according to the terms of the lease, a loss equal to the accrued rental revenue unlikely to be received from that 
tenant would be charged to operations.  The Company also earns percentage rent from a tenant based on a gross 
receipts calculation.  This revenue is recognized in the period it is earned.  Receivables relating to percentage rent 
totaled $43,008 and $41,630 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are recognized as accounts 
receivable on the accompanying balance sheets.   

Rental revenue recognized on a straight-line basis over rents due amounted to $5,236 for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016. 



Sooner Town Center II, LLC 8 

 

 

Revenue received in advance from tenants is recognized as unearned revenue on the accompanying balance 
sheets.  Unearned revenue was $58,639 and $59,938 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.   

The Project consists of 69,308 square feet of retail space and was completed in 2012.  At December 31, 2017, 
three tenants occupying 69,308 square feet were operating under non-cancelable leases providing for future 
minimum rents of $5,626,457, with the latest expiration date of July 31, 2029. 

Future minimum rents receivable under non-cancelable leases for all known tenants at December 31, 2017, are as 
follows.  Most leases have renewal options, which are not included below. 

Amount
$

2018 845,452      
2019 829,204      

2020 829,204      
2021 829,204      
2022 829,204      
Thereafter 1,464,189   

5,626,457   

 
Rent and other receivables are reported at their estimated net realizable value.  When necessary, the Company 
provides an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection 
information and existing economic conditions.  Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the 
receivables.  Rent and other receivables are written off based on individual credit evaluation and specific 
circumstances of the customer.  Management has concluded that all of the Company’s accounts receivable 
amounts will be realizable and, accordingly, has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 
2017 or 2016.  

Real Property 

Buildings are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 
39 years.  Land improvements and signage are depreciated using an accelerated method of depreciation over the 
useful life of the assets, usually 15 years.  

Depreciation on real property charged to operations was $290,983 and $303,749 for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

Repairs are charged against operations.  Renewals and betterments that materially extend the life of an asset are 
capitalized. 

The Company reviews the real property for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the real property may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of the real property is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the real property to undiscounted future net cash flows 
expected to be generated by the real property.  If the real property is considered to be impaired, the impairment 
to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the real property exceeds its fair 
value.  No impairment was recognized as of December 31, 2017. 
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Deferred Charges and Other Assets 

Deferred charges consist of lease commissions and lease costs, and are stated at cost net of accumulated 
amortization.  At December 31, 2017 and 2016, total deferred charges capitalized were $592,727 with 
accumulated amortization of $306,867 and $245,735, respectively.  The lease commissions and lease costs are 
amortized on the straight-line method over the terms of the respective leases.  Lease commission and lease costs 
amortization expense of $63,990 is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying statement of 
operations for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.   

Deferred charges and other assets also includes $34,069 and $33,224 of prepaid expenses at December 31, 2017 
and 2016, respectively. 

Income Taxes 

The Company is a limited liability company treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes.  
As a result, the Company’s results of operations are included in the income tax returns of its individual members.  
Accordingly, no provision for federal or state income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying financial 
statements. 

The Company follows applicable authoritative guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes which, 
among other things, prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement 
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return and provides 
guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods and disclosure. The 
Company has no uncertain tax positions.   

Use of Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

2 Debt 

The Company entered into a note payable agreement with First National Bank for borrowings in the maximum 
principal amount of $9,136,970 on September 18, 2012.  Cumulative amounts borrowed as of December 31, 2017 
and 2016 were $8,342,306 and $8,533,767, respectively.  The note is collateralized by a deed of trust on real 
property and assignment of rents.  The interest rate is variable at a rate equal to 3% per annum in excess of the 
five year Treasury Rate with a floor of 4.5%.  For the year ending December 31, 2016, the interest rate was 5.44%.  

On February 10, 2017, the Company refinanced the note with First National Bank for the entire outstanding 
balance on that date.  Under the amended terms, the interest rate is fixed at a rate equal to 3.50% per annum in 
excess of the Treasury Rate adjustable every five years.  The entire unpaid balance of principal and accrued unpaid 
interest owing on the note will be due and payable on February 10, 2039. For the year ending December 31, 2017, 
the interest rate was 5.44%. 

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company elected to adopt the provisions of Accounting 
Standards Update (ASU) 2015-03, “Interest – Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt 
Issuance Costs.”  This ASU required that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in 
the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability instead of separately being 
recorded in deferred charges and other assets.  In accordance with this presentation, the net deferred loan cost 
balance as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 of $52,792 and $39,751, respectively, is presented as a reduction of the 
related debt liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets. 
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Notes payable consists of the following at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively: 

December 31 2017 2016
$ $

Principal Balance 8,342,306             8,533,767             
Less unamortized deferred loan costs 52,792                  39,751                  
Notes payable less unamortized deferred loan costs 8,289,514             8,494,016             

 
Loan costs consist of various debt issuance costs and are amortized on the straight-line method, which 
approximates the effective interest method, based on terms of the respective debt agreements.  The Company’s 
loan costs total $151,749 and $136,290 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, with accumulated 
amortization totaling $98,957 and $96,539 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Loan cost 
amortization expense of $2,419 and $22,715 is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying 
statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  

Interest incurred related to the above loans totaled $461,430 and $416,133 for the years ended December 31, 2017 
and 2016, respectively. 

Scheduled principal payments on the note payable are as follows: 

 
Amount

$
2018 214,191      
2019 226,308      

2020 237,872      
2021 252,567      
2022 266,855      
Thereafter 7,144,513   

8,342,306   
 

3 Leases 

The Company subleases the Project land from Sooner Town Center, LLC (STC), a related party, which leases the 
land from the City.  The lease commenced on July 19, 2012, with rent commencement on October 31, 2012.  The 
lease expires on October 31, 2062, with a five-year renewal option.  The monthly rent amount increases by 10% 
on the 10th anniversary of the commencement date, and every five years thereafter. 

Straight-line rental expense totaled $65,609 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.  Unpaid rent 
expense related to this lease totaled $82,436 and $61,827 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and is 
included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the accompanying balance sheet. 

Future minimum rent payments for the original term are as follows: 
Amount

$
2018 45,000        
2019 45,000        

2020 45,000        
2021 45,000        
2022 45,750        
Thereafter 2,822,132   

3,047,882   
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The Company also has a ground lease with the Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority, an affiliated entity, 
which provides for participation rent equivalent to 50% of net cash flows as defined measured on a cumulative 
basis.  Rent commenced on October 31, 2012 under this lease, which expires on October 31, 2062, with a 
five-year renewal option.  In addition to participation rent, starting one year after the commencement date, annual 
rent will be $1.  Participation rent is due and payable only to the extent that cumulative net cash flows are 
positive. Rent expense under this lease is $64,207 and $78,355 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively.   

4 Related-party Transactions and Balances 

Collett Management, LLC (Collett), an affiliated entity, provides leasing, development and brokerage services to 
the Company.  The Company paid nominal amounts for various expense reimbursements to Collett for the years 
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.  Property management fees totaling $49,105 and $52,707 were paid to 
Collett for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

John S. Cheek, Inc. (Cheek), an affiliated entity, provides tax and accounting services to the Company.  The 
Company paid $12,685 and $1,400 in fees to Cheek for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively.   

The Company leases land from the City (see Note 3).  Utility expenses paid to the City totaled $14,307 and 
$12,880 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  

Certain members guarantee the note payable.  

5 Subsequent Events 

The Company has analyzed its operations subsequent to December 31, 2017 through ___________, the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued.   

 



Sooner Town Center II, LLC  

 

Supplementary information 



Sooner Town Center II, LLC 13 

Schedule I – Net operating income 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Rental revenues per audited financial statements 1,236,856           1,236,853           
Adjustments to cash basis: 

Rent & CAM receivable (2,704)                42,447               
Deferred rent receivable (5,236)                (5,236)                
Unearned rent (1,299)                (68,181)              

Gross operating revenue (cash basis) 1,227,617           1,205,883           
Total operating expenses 849,593              908,664              
Adjustments for noncash expenses and expenses funded with loan proceeds:
Depreciation and amortization (357,392)             (390,454)             
Participation rent, accrued or paid (64,207)              (78,355)              
Operating expenses 427,994              439,855              
Net operating income 799,623              766,028              

 

 



Sooner Town Center II, LLC 14 

Schedule II – Debt service 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Debt service:
Interest expense per audited financial statements 461,430                 416,133                 
Principal payments and loan costs 209,780                 193,185                 
          Total debt service 671,210                 609,318                 
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Schedule III – Net cash flow 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Net operating income 799,623               766,028               
Less - Debt service (671,210)              (609,318)              
Net cash flow, current year 128,413               156,710               
Less - Cash Reserve -                          -                          
Net cash flow, after reserves 128,413               156,710               

Participation rent factor 50% 50%
Participation rent (minimum of $0) 64,207                 78,355                 
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Schedule IV – Subtenant rents 

 

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016

$ $
Tenant rents 1,227,617           1,205,883           
          Total rents (cash basis) 1,227,617           1,205,883           
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